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Financial Overview

2562 / 2019 2561 /2018 2560 / 2017

VoyavnyunIsiiu

Financial Statements

AUnNsngsau @wum)
- 1,954.2 1,959.3 2,012.3
Assets (Million Baht)
ViiAuT @G vm) 683 454
. . 72.8
Liabilities (Million Baht)
AUV DU @mum)
v ) o 1,885.9 1,915.9 1,939.4
Shareholders’ equity (Million Baht)
sneleannsene @mvm)
- 2,074.5 2,246.5 2,357.8
Revenues from sales (Million Baht)
Y3unesny #1
121,676 116,748 136,844
Sale volume Mt )
ﬁﬂisﬁ’uﬁumﬂm'ﬁnwé’w%’uﬂqammumﬂmiam%af’h @mum)
YDIAUANPIAGTD
. 115.9 95.5 198.5
Gross profit from sales after Loss from diminution in  (Million Baht)
value of inventories
MERuladRymaea @num)
! . 12.3 8.3 33.0
Income tax expense (Million Baht)
Mls @enu) dusulndsanninadsulsifuana (@)
) ’ 48.5 33.1 131.9

Profit (Loss) for the year after Corporate income tax ~ (Million Baht)

5mswz—ioum\1mslﬁu
Financial Ratios
Sadmmiaureduvaiery ()
. . o ] 0.04 0.02 0.04
Debt-to-equity ratio (Times)
BNINFILENINATDY (1)
. ] 19.5 31.2 17.5
Current ratio (Times)
dnsmanlsansresanue ($ae1ae)
! 2.34 1.47 5,55
Return on net sales (%)
DT INANDUMNUND BV ($0682)
U 2.55 1.72 6.79
Return on equity (%)
DT INANDULNUINNAUNTNE ($o8/32)
2.48 1.67 6.55
Return on assets (%)
Mls (@1ANL) andaanu (Um)
. T ) 0.04 0.03 0.12
Earnings per share (Baht)
yaAmuUYTson (V)
Y ! 1.67 1.69 1.71
Book value per share (Baht)
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Report of the Board of Directors

Mr. Taweesak Senanarong

In 2019, the overall Thai economy has slowed down from the previous year. The gross domestic product
(GDP) fell from 4.2% in 2018 to 2.4% in 2019, affected by the global economic slowdown as a result of the trade
protectionism, conflict between the United States and Iran. The appreciation of the Thai baht has also resulted
in negative exports although there are positive factors from the growth of private consumption and government
spending. The world steel price situation is still volatile with the steel price stabilizing at the high level in the first
half of the year before declining in the second half of the year.

For the overall operation in 2019, the sales amount was decreased 7.2% from Baht 2,229 Million in 2018 to
Baht 2,068 Million in 2019. This was due to the decrease in the average selling price from Baht 19,300 per ton in
2018 to Baht 17,000 per ton in 2019 although the sales volume had increased 5,900 tons from last year as a result
of the growth in domestic demand of steel. Although the selling price of the steel bar has decreased in the year
2019, the Company has cautiously put the strong effort in planning and ordering the billet from various sources
in order to get the reasonable price. Therefore, the Company can manage to increase the average metal spread
from Baht 2,700 in 2018 to Baht 3,300 in 2019. This led to the increase in operation resulted from net income of
Baht 33 Million in 2018 to Baht 49 Million in 2019.

Finally, the board of directors has considered the result of operation, financial position, and liquidity, and
decided to propose in the 2020 general meeting of shareholders to approve the dividend payment at 0.04 Baht
per share, amounting to Baht 45.3 million. However, the board of directors has approved the 2019 interim dividend
for this amount and the payment was made to the eligible shareholders on 9th December 2019. Therefore, the

Company will not announce the final dividend for 2019.

our appreciation

CEERCELEREEERRE TR T et
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The Audit Committee of Bangsaphan Barmill Public
Company Limited consists of three independent member
whose qualifications are appropriate and in compliance
with the regulations stipulated by the Stock Exchange of

Thailand and the Securities and Exchange Commission.

The Audit Committee’s member consists of:
Chairman of

the Audit Committee
Audit Committee

- Mr. Komkris Prachakris

- Mr. Charin Hansuebsai

- Mr. Tawat Polquamdee Audit Commitee

In 2019 the Audit Committee has performed under
the scope, duties and responsibilities as assigned by the
Company’s Board of Directors and specified in the Audit
Committee Charter, in accordance with the regulations
of the Stock Exchange of Thailand which were fully
cooperated by the Company’s management, internal
auditors and auditor. The Audit Committee held 5
meetings with the Company’s management, internal
auditors and auditor as appropriate, including a meeting
with the auditor without the management for realization
of their work environment, to exchange views with them,
to be provided any suggestions and updating the new
accounting standards.

The Major activities of the Audit Committee summarized

as follows:
1. Financial Statements

The Audit Committee reviewed the quarterly and
annual financial statements for the year 2019 together

with the management and the Auditor by considering

8 Bangsaphan Barmill PLC.

Report of the Audit Committee

Chairman of the Audit Committee

the accounting information and compliance with the
financial reporting standard. The Audit Committee
sufficiently inquired and obtained the explanation as well
as made recommendations and comments in various
points concerning the Company’s financial reports prior
to submitting to the Board of Directors for approval
before disclosure to the Stock Exchange of Thailand
and the Securities and Exchange Commission. The Audit
Committee opined that the financial statements were
prepared in accordance with the general accepted
accounting principles, accurate, sufficient disclosure

and reliable.
2. Internal Control System

The Audit Committee jointly worked with the Internal
Auditor by reviewing the report based on the audit plan
and reviewing the sufficiency of the Internal Control
System with aim to prevent possible risk. The Audit
Committee reviewed the internal control assessment for
the year 2019 with the Assessment Form of Sufficiency
of Internal Control System prescribed by the Securities
and Exchange Commission (SEC). The Audit Committee
opined that there was no significant flaw from operation.
The Company had suitable sufficient and effective
Internal Control System and Internal Audit System as

well as appropriate personnel.
3. Legal Compliance

The Audit Committee reviewed the report of the
legal compliance with resulations under Securities
and Exchange Act, regulation of the Stock Exchange of

Thailand, rules, regulations and orders of the Government



authorities and law relating to Company’s business and
opined that the Company’s operations were complied

with the relevant laws and regulations.
4. Risk Management

The Audit Committee was responsible to understand
the risk assessment method of the Company which the
Management had arranged the measures to cope with
the significant risks. It was found that the Company had
the ability to appropriately and effectively control and
manage the risks that varied according to the environment
from both internal and external factors such as economic

situation, laws and regulations.
5. Related Party Transactions

The Audit Committee considered the related party
transactions or transactions with potential conflict of
interest and found that such transactions were carried
out appropriately with the normal business practices
and for the maximum benefit of the Company and the

information disclosure is accurate and complete.
6. Nomination of External Auditor

The Audit Committee considered performance
of EY Office Limited, the Company’s auditor, in the
previous year that satisfactorily performed its duties,
reliability, independence, capability to provide service
and consultation on accounting standards, auditing and
certification of the financial statementsin a timely manner
and the appropriate remuneration. The Committee,
therefore, resolved to propose to the Company’s Board

of Directors to present to the Shareholders’ Meeting

on the appointment of Ms. Israporn Wisutthiyan or Ms.
Supannee Triyanantakul or Ms. Watoo Kayankannavee
of EY Office Limited as the Company’s auditor for the
year 2020.

7. Self-Assessment

The Audit Committee performed self-assessment
in accordance with the guideline of the Stock Exchange
of Thailand. The Audit Committee had the opinion that
the Audit Committee practices were in compliance with

such guideline.

In conclusion, in 2019 the Audit Committee has
performed its duties independently in accordance
with the scope of duties and responsibility. Expression
of opinion was carried out based on the principles
of transparency and verifiable. The Audit Committee
conclude that the Company’s financial statements
were prepared in accordance with financial reporting
standard. The internal control, internal audit and risk
management systems were adequate and effective.
As for related transactions which might entail conflict
of interest, there were actual transactions that arose
from the normal course of business. Furthermore, the
Company was in compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations. The business of the company was conducted

with good corporate governance of the Stock Exchange

of Thailand.
v.-\/ L_}\/

Mr. Komkris Prachakris

Chairman of the Audit Committee
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Mr. Taweesak Senanarong
Chairman of the Board
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Mr. Fang, Jin-Long ‘ Mr. Win Viriyaprapaikit

Director Director
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Mr. Anuwat Chaikittivanich Mr. Lee, Chien-Hung
Director Director
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Mr. Charin Hansuebsai
Audit Committee
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Mr. Komkris Prachakris
Chairman of the Audit Committee
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Mr. Tawat Polquamdee
Audit Committee

Mr. Lee, Yeh-Wen

Managing Director
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Mr. Taweesak Senanarong

Chairman of the Board and Independent Director
Age 84 years

Family Relation among Management: None
Tenure: 15 years

Shareholding Equity: None
Education

» Bachelor’s Degree in Art, Rome, Italy
« Bachelor’s Degree in Fine Arts, Silpakorn University
« Honorary Doctorate Degree, Silpakorn University

« Certificate, Class 29, National Defense College

Director Training Program
» Certificate, Director Accreditation Program
(DAP Class 26/2004), Institute of Director

Work Experience

2001-Present Director, Sahaviriya Plate Mill Plc.
1999-2013
1999-2013
1999-2011

Director, Prachuap Port Co., Ltd.
Director, Sahaviriya Steel Industries Plc.
Director,

West Coast Engineering Co., Ltd.

Criminal offense record during the past 10 years: None

12
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Mr. Komkris Prachakris

Chairman of the Audit Committee

and Independent Director

Age 55 years

Family Relation among Management: None
Tenure: 8 year

Shareholding Equity: None

Education

 Diploma in Auditing, Thammasat University
« Bachelor’s Degree, Accounting,

Ramkhamhaeng University

Director Training Program

« Certificate, Director Accreditation Program
(DAP Class 96/2012), Institute of Directors

+ Audit Committee Program (ACP Class 40/2012),
Institute of Directors

Work Experience

1997-Present Director,

Anakekij Phongtorn Komkris Co., Ltd.
1991-Present Managing Director,

Thammanat Co., Ltd.

2011-Present Chairman of the Audit Committee,
Sahaviriya Plate Mill Plc.

2011-Present Director, B.S. Metal Co., Ltd.
2011-Present Director,

Sahaviriya Corporation Co., Ltd.

1993-1997 Director, Phongtorn Komkris Co., Ltd.

Criminal offense record during the past 10 years: None
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25452547 #ivsnwanismidlussedu 10
2543-2544  $9995UANTUANLESNATEIDDN
NIENTIINYE

2539-2543  $9985UANTULATIINIIANIEIINNUTELA
NTENTINEE

Us:=amnasns:rinnqruielus:e: 10 U dounav -laidfl-

Mr. Charin Hansuebsai

Audit Committee and Independent Director

Age 75 years

Family Relation among Management: None
Tenure: 15 years

Shareholding Equity: None

Education

« Master’s Degree in Business Administration,
University of Wisconsin-Madison, U.S.A.

« Bachelor’s Degree in Political Science

(Second honors), Chulalongkorn University

« High-level Executive Certificate, Class 18,
Office of the Civil Service Commission

« Certificate of Government Organization Management
and Laws, Class 2, King Prajadhipok’s Institute

« Certificate Course in Politics and Governance in
Democratic Systems, Class 14,

King Prajadhipok’s Institute

Director Training Program

« Certificate, Director Accreditation Program
(DAP Class 26/2004), Institute of Directors

« Certificate, Director Certification Program
(DCP Class 101/2008), Institute of Directors
Work Experience

2007-Present Audit Committee,

Sahaviriya Plate Mill Plc.

2005-2007
International Institute for Trade

Director,

and Development
2003-2007
Property and International Trade Court
2004-2004
Ministry of Commerce

Associate Judge, Central Intellectual

Inspector (Level 10),

2001-2004  Advisor (Level 10),
Ministry of Commerce
2000-2001  Deputy Director General,

Export Promotion Department,
Ministry of Commerce

1996-2000
Business Economics Department,

Deputy Director General,

Ministry of Commerce

Criminal offense record during the past 10 years: None

14 Bangsaphan Barmill PLC.
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u8WI U Kav

NITUNT UAE NTTUNTHTOUIIAIUUUNUUTEN

918 711

ANNFUN UGN NATOUATITENININTIUN SR ~luT-
Srunu@idunssunis : 25 ¥

dndunstieviuluuiem : Sevay 5.72 (sufausa)
ANUQAINWNISANYY

» National Chai-Yi Commerce & Vocational

High School

nMseusuuUNUINIa:kKtinAinssuns :-laidl-
Js:zaunisnin1inu

2543-Uaqdy  Director,

Yuanta United Steel Corporation

2543-2552  President,

Leh Ching Industrial Corporation
2546-2550  Supervisor,
Yuanta Core Pacific Securities
2543-2546
2535-2543
Js:=amnisns=rannqruielus:zo: 10 U dounau -laifl-

Director, Yuanta Core Pacific Securities

Supervisor, United Steel Corporation

Mr. Fang, Jin-Long

Director and Authorized Director

Age 71 years

Family Relation among Management: None
Tenure: 25 years

Shareholding Equity: 5.72% (including spouse’s stake)

Education
« National Chai-Yi Commerce & Vocational

High School

Director Training Program: None
Work Experience
2000-Present Director,

Yuanta United Steel Corporation

2000-2009  President,

Leh Ching Industrial Corporation

2003-2007  Supervisor,

Yuanta Core Pacific Securities

2000-2003 Director, Yuanta Core Pacific Securities
1992-2000  Supervisor, United Steel Corporation

Criminal offense record during the past 10 years: None
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NITUNT bAE NTTUNTHUOUIIAIUUUNUUTEN

91y 49 U
ANUENITUENIIATOUATISENININT SN SMEi -Lud-
Frundidunssums : 8 9

dnehunistevuluusen : Sevay 0.0000044
ANUYFAINNNISANYY

« UTyy1ln awuivnsgsna andudaudinusmisgsna
ARUNTLANTAINIAIINTINEAY

« US193 aNvIAINSIURAAINNIS
wninedeialey laifer Ysemediu
n1seUsLUNUINIIa:KNANSSUNTS

- nangnsUssmalednsandunssunsuielne
Director Certification Program (DCP i;uﬁ 100/2008)
auenduasuan tunssunsuseive

« vanansUsENIAleUnTUTEEUNTINNTUTEN

(RCP §udl 20/2008)

auenduasuan tunssunsuseive

- néngasIneIMIaemY Juil 5
anUuIne1NInaInU

Js=aunsniniou

2542-0a0u  n3suNg

US¥n avisenafadunans 311n (unvw)
2547-U930u  n3sunsEAnnslviey

U3¥n avisenaiadunans 311n (unvw)
2560-U3q0u  n35UNT

UTEN andsenania 1in (W)

Js:amnasns:rdnanqruislus:e: 10 U dounau :-laifl-

Mr. Win Viriyaprapaikit

Director and Authorized Director

Age 49 years

Family Relation among Management: None
Tenure: 8 year

Shareholding Equity: 0.0000044%

Education

+ M.B.A, Sasin Graduate Institute of Business
Administration, Chulalongkorn University
 Bachelor Industrial Engineering,

Keio University, Tokyo, Japan

Director Training Program

« Certificate, Director Certificate Program

(DCP, Class 100/2008), Institute of Directors

» The Role of the Chairman Program

(RCP Class 20/2008), Institute of Directors
 Capital Market Academy Leadership Program
(CMA 5), Capital Market Academy

Work Experience

1999-Present Director,

Sahaviriya Steel Industries Plc.

2004-Present President,

Sahaviriya Steel Industries Plc.

2017-Present Director, Sahaviriya Plate Mill Plc.

Criminal offense record during the past 10 years: None

16 Bangsaphan Barmill PLC.
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918 49 U
AUANNUSIATOUATITENINNTINANTAI8AU - 1aT-
$rnulfidunssuns : 14 ¥

dnaunstionuluuiem : Souay 6.36
ANUYAINNISANYN

» Master of Science in Engineering Business
Management, The University of Warwick (UK)
nseusuuNUINIa:rtihAnssuns :-laifl-
Jszaunisniniinu

2547-U390u  Project Manager,

Heng Huei Construction Development

2544-2547
Js=amnisns:riannnruislus:o: 10 U dounay :-1ud-

Sales Assistant Manager, Runtop Inc.

Mr. Lee, Chien-Hung

Director

Age 49 years

Family Relation among Management: None
Tenure: 14 years

Shareholding Equity: 6.36%

Education
» Master of Science in Engineering Business

Management, University of Warwick (UK)

Director Training Program : None

Work Experience

2004-Present Project Manager,

Heng Huei Construction Development
2001-2004

Criminal offense record during the past 10 years: None

Sales Assistant Manager, Runtop Inc.

R 78

Annual Report 2019 17



u19sIY wanduR

ASSUNITATIVEBU LAY NITUNITOATY

91y 63
ANUFUNUSNI9ATOUASITENININTTUNSARETUY -laidl-
Fruudmdunssunis : 2 U

[ 1 & v a o 1a
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ANUQAINIINSANYN

USyay1v anunsgusermaumans 3nan el ivende
o USQUeyes @3N IsuLnilo s
UNINYIREENVAIUATUNT
NMsoUsUUNUANIE:KUNANSSUNTS
- nangnsUsznAtiednsanidunssunisuiening
Director Certification Program (DCP 3:14!’17'1' 234/2017)
dunAndasuaatunsIuNsUIEVlng

Us:=aunisnirnivau

2558-2559  1au18N1sdUNUNIASE NGRS
NANMNTTY

2557-2558  HRTI9T1UNINTENTHEAAMNTIY
NIENTIQAFMNTTY

2553-2557  sedeBURnIugRAMNIIIfiug UL

NILALioaus NITNTNYAFINNIIU
2553
NITNTNYAFINNIIU

JRBBUANTUANESNRNAMNTTY

2551-2553  ffgmnemsditinuivsasnndes
nuguaNTIINUg IUNAYNTVTTa T
2550-2551 ;:Ja"ﬂm&Jmiﬁwﬁﬂmuqmmuﬂiiu'ﬁugm
wazn1smilouion 1 (avan)

Us:amnasns:rananqruislus:o: 10 U dounau :-laiil-

Mr.Tawat Polquamdee

Audit Committee and Independent Director
Age 63 years

Family Relation among Management: None
Tenure: 2 year

Shareholding Equity: None

Education

- Master Degree in Public Administration,
Chulalongkorn University

- Bachelor Degree in Mining Engineering,

Prince of Songkla University

Director Training Program
- Certificate, Director Certification Program

(DCP, Class 234/2017), Institute of Directors

Work Experience
2015-2016  Secretary General,
Industrial Standard Organization,
Ministry of Industries

2014-2015

2010-2014

Inspector, Ministry of Industries
Deputy Director General,
Department of Primary Industries and

Mines, Ministry of Industries

2010 Deputy Director General,
Department of Industrial Promotion,
Ministry of Industries

2008-2010  Director Bureau of Environmental
Management, Department of Primary

Industries and Mines

2007-2008  Director Office of Primary Industries

and Mines, Region 1 (Songkla)

Criminal offense record during the past 10 years: None
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Mr. Anuwat Chaikittivanich

Director and Authorize Director

Age 49 years

Family Relation among Management: None
Tenure: 4 year

Shareholding Equity: None
Education

» Master Degree in Marketing (MIM) (English Program),
Thammasat University

» Master Degree, School Development of Economics
Business Economics Program, National Institute
Development Administration (NIDA)

+ Bachelor Degree (B.A.) in Economics

(English Program), Thammasat University

Work Experience

2015-Present Managing Director,
SVL Corporation Co., Ltd.
2003-2015
Sahaviriya Steel Group Co., Ltd.

President-Corporate Planning,

Criminal offense record during the past 10 years: None
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918 62 U
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e St. John & St. Mary’s Institute Certificate
MMseusuUNUINIA:HUNANSSUNTS

« nangnsUsznetleding Director Accreditation Program
(DAP uil 26/2004)
fnAudsastantunssunIsuSEnlneg
Js:=aunisniniinu

2534-2537  gaanseheneuaznsinnis

Taiwan Iron & Steel Manufacture

Us=amnsns:rannnrunelus:o: 10 U doundd : -ladl -

Qlll

9. Mr. Lee, Yeh-Wen

Director, Authorize Director and Managing Director
Age 62 years

Family Relation among Management: None
Tenure: 23 years

Shareholding Equity: 2.78%

Education

» St. John & St. Mary’s Institute Certificate

Director Training Program

« Certificate, Director Accreditation Program
(DAP Class 26/2004), Institute of Directors
Work Experience

1991-1994  Sales and Administration Manager,
Taiwan Iron & Steel Manufacture

Criminal offense record during the past 10 years: None

nonnn s
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Finance & Accounting

Department Manager
Ms. Chatrawadee Kumsanit
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Management’s Profile

UMK 19: IK3U

N35UNSEIANT

ANUQAINIINNSANYN

e St. John & St. Mary’s Institute Certificate

. Mé’ﬂgjﬁli Director Accreditation Program
(DAP uil 26/2004) asnAudsEHAATTUNTTUANS
viTning

Js:zaunasnininu

2534-2537  {ian1sEevIeuaENITIANTS
Taiwan Iron & Steel Manufacture

andounisfiouluusen : feeaz 2.78

Mr. Lee, Yeh-Wen

Managing Director

Education

« St. John & St. Mary’s Institute Certificate

« Director Accreditation Program (DAP Class 26/2004),
Institute of Directors

Work Experience

1991-1994 Sales and Administration Manager,

Taiwan Iron & Steel Manufacture

Shareholding Equity: 2.78%

u1end 8s01an

FRINTIUNMIHIANTT (UIUN3) U

$hwnsianIsIegINIskaENSIANTg

ANUQAINIINSANYY

« USgyeywssgransanuduiusseninauseme
UNNINYIRYTIUAMN

« Usgnatiednsnisusmsdanisadelvg
PANTAUN TN

Js=aunisniniou

2539-1398u  N33un"3 USEY Lea 8.7l insaRs $17in

2533-U390U  ATIUNNT UTEN vensesiaun 119

dndounisfiouluusen : $eeaz 0.06

Mr. Thavee Jatchavala

Executive Deputy Managing Director

and Acting Administrative Department Manager

Education

« Bachelor’s Degree in International Affairs,
Ramkhamhaeng University

» Certificate, Modern Business Administration,
Chulalongkorn University

Work Experience

1996-Present Director, S.E.T. Trading Co., Ltd.

1990-Present Director, Bang Phra Pattana Co., Ltd.

Shareholding Equity: 0.06%

22 Bangsaphan Barmill PLC.
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 YSeuns @l umnInedusssuAans

o USuayln avnuimsesna uninedesssuenans

Js:=aunasnininu

2556-2557  S94NTIUNNTHIANTT
U ndlpavt uiidess s
2550-2555 Financial Controller

usEm Wl 8idnnsedlad aludu
(Uszwelng) 911

2543-2549
UV Ludunua @m1se wous wailda

Adnn1sehednduims

Uszwalng) 311n
2538-2542

Usezwalng) 311n

HannsEheUayd uTem lulalsan

Mr. Sathit Kosinanondh

Deputy Managing Director Accounting

and Finance and Company Secretary

Education

» Bachelor’s Degree in Accounting,
Thammasat University

» Master’s Degree in Business Administration,
Thammasat University

Work Experience

2013-2014 Deputy Managing Director,

West Coast Engineering Co., Ltd.

2007-2012 Financial Controller,

Tyco Electronics Dulmison (Thailand) Co., Ltd.

2000-2006
National Starch and Chemical (Thailand)
Co.,, Ltd.

1995-1999 Accounting Manager, Motorola

Management Accounting Manager,

dndounisiioAuluusen : - (Thailand) Co., ltd.
Shareholding Equity: -
u"gI1au 9 A Mr. Chen,Wu-Hua
iaﬂﬂiiumiﬁﬁmmi Deputy Managing Director
ANUQAINIINISANYN Education

» Ming Xin Industrial College (Taiwan)

Js:zaunsnirinu

2539-2552
USE vsgenuusia e (W)

2536-2539

dndounstioriuluusen : Sesay 0.06

fann1sehelsany

H3nN13 Sino-Holic Co., Ltd.

» Ming Xin Industrial College (Taiwan)
Work Experience
1996-2009 Plant Department Manager,
Bangsaphan Barmill Public Co., Ltd.
1993-1996

Shareholding Equity: 0.06%

Manager, Sino-Holic Co., Ltd.

Annual Report 2019
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Jszaunasniniu
2543-2547  s0udAnsEheng
UTEM UsdzwIuusia 9170
2539-2543

USYN UN9EENIUUISHa 91100

HANNTWKUAYNY

dndounnsiiouluusen : -

Qlll

Mr. Veerasak Laoruksakiat

Sales Department Manager

Education

« Bachelor’s Degree in Marketing,
Assumption University

Work Experience

2000-2004 Deputy Sales Department Manager,
Bangsaphan Barmill Co., Ltd.

1996-2000 Sales Section Manager,

Bangsaphan Barmill Co., Ltd.

Shareholding Equity: -

U"g 139 198U 1

HannsEelsanu

ANUQFAINNISANYY

» China Juntop Institute Technology and Commerce

Js:zaunsnininu

25422552 T0eHIAN15Helsey
UTE vsgewuusia 9in (W)

2541-2542  {AeRdANTs
Samsung Heavy industry

dndounnsiioruluusen : -

Mr. Sheng, Chien-Hong

Plant Department Manager

Education

» China Juntop Institute Technology and Commerce

Work Experience

1999-2009 Assistance Plant Department Manager,
Bangsaphan Barmill Public Co., Ltd.

1998-1999 Assistance Camp Manager,

Samsung Heavy industry

Shareholding Equity: -

nonnn s
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7. UNAANSOA AUETN
HannsEheUnyiuazn1sty
ANUQAINIINISANYN
« USyyns @1 sUey® Unnineaesssuaans
Js:zaunisniniagu
2549 - 2558 s04Ednn ety Buaynistiu

UTEM UsdzwIuusla 910 (Unnew)

dndounnsiiouluusen : -

Ms. Chatrawadee Kumsanit

Finance & Accounting Department Manager

Education

» Bachelor’s Degree in Accounting,
Thammasat University

Work Experience

2006-2015 Deputy Finance & Accounting
Department

Shareholding Equity: -

LT 7
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General Information

Name Bangsaphan Barmill Public Company Limited

Company Registration No. 0107547000702

Type of Business
Head office

Factory office

Website
Registered Capital
Consisting of

Par Value

Paid-up Capital
Consisting of

Par Value

Other Reference Persons

Share Registrar

A producer of round steel bars and deformed steel bars
8" Floor, Prapawit Bldg., 28/1 Surasak Road, Silom
Bangrak, Bangkok 10500
Tel. 0 2630 0590-5
Fax. 0 2236 6995-6
8 Moo 7 Banklangna-Yaiploy Road, T.Maeramphueng
Bangsaphan, Prachuabkirikhan 77140
Tel. 0 3254 8384-9
Fax. 0 3254 8392
www.bsbm.co.th
1,132,500,000  Baht
1,132,500,000  Shares
1.00  Baht
1,132,500,000  Baht
1,132,500,000 Shares
1.00  Baht

- Ordinary Shares Thailand Securities Depository Company Limited

93 Ratchadaphisek Road, Dindaeng, Bangkok 10400 I
- Debentures =
Auditor

Ms. Isaraporn Wisutthiyan

Annual Report 2019
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Nature of Business

Bangsaphan Barmill Public Company Limited was established on 11 November 1994, with Baht 600 million

initial registered capital. At present, its fully paid registered capital (as of 31 December 2019) was at Baht 1,132.5
million, consisting of 1,132.5 million ordinary shares at Baht 1 per share par value. The production plant is in
Bangsaphan District, Prachuabkhirikhan province. It received promotional privileges from the Board of Investment,
promotional privilege approval No. 1186/2538 issued on 30 March 1995. The Company’s major development and

progress are as follows:

November 1994 The Company was registered on November 11, 1994 with Baht 600 million initial registered

March 1995

October 2001
January 2005

April 2005

December 2005

August 2006

April 2007
August 2007

April 2008
August 2008

September 2009

April 2010
August 2010

September 2010

October 2010
April 2011
August 2011

April 2012
August 2013

April 2014
August 2014

August 2016

February 2017
February 2017
April 2017
August 2017

capital to operate hot-rolled steel bars production business.

The Board of Investment granted promotional privilege to the Company for its round bars and
deformed bars production.

The Company was granted I1SO 9001:2000 certification.

The Company made an initial public offering. And the Stock Exchange of Thailand approved
the Company’s shares to be listed on the SET.

The first annual shareholders’ meeting was held after being a listing company. The meeting
approved dividend payment of Baht 0.05 per share.

The Company was granted I1SO 14001:2004 certification.

The Board of Directors’ Meeting approved the payment of interim dividend for the year 2006
at the rate Baht 0.10 per share.

The Annual Shareholders” Meeting was approved final dividend payment of Baht 0.10 per share.
The Board of Directors’ Meeting approved the payment of interim dividend for the year 2007
at the rate Baht 0.06 per share.

The Annual Shareholders’ Meeting was approved final dividend payment of Baht 0.12 per share.
The Board of Directors’ Meeting approved the payment of interim dividend for the year 2008
at the rate Baht 0.18 per share.

Received the “Certificate of Good Governance in Environmental Management”

from the Ministry of Industry.

The Annual Shareholders’ Meeting was approved final dividend payment of Baht 0.08 per share.
The Board of Directors’ Meeting approved the payment of interim dividend for the year 2010
at the rate Baht 0.06 per share.

Received the “Certificate of Good Governance in Environmental Management”

for the second year.

The Company was granted ISO 9001:2008 certification.

The Annual Shareholders’ Meeting was approved final dividend payment of Baht 0.06 per share.
The Board of Directors’ Meeting approved the payment of interim dividend for the year 2011
at the rate Baht 0.06 per share.

The Annual Shareholders’ Meeting was approved final dividend payment of Baht 0.02 per share.
The Board of Directors’ Meeting approved the payment of interim dividend for the year 2013
at the rate Baht 0.03 per share.

The Annual Shareholders’” Meeting was approved final dividend payment of Baht 0.05 per share.
The Board of Directors’ Meeting approved the payment of interim dividend for the year 2014
at the rate Baht 0.03 per share.

The Board of Directors’ Meeting approved the payment of interim dividend for the year 2016
at the rate Baht 0.08 per share.

The Company was granted ISO 9001:2015 certification.

The Company was granted ISO 14001:2015 certification.

The Annual Shareholders’ Meeting was approved final dividend payment of Baht 0.06 per share.
The Board of Directors’ Meeting approved the payment of interim dividend for the year 2017
at the rate Baht 0.06 per share.
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April 2018 The Annual Shareholders’ Meeting was approved final dividend payment of Baht 0.05 per share.

August 2018 The Company had been certified as a member of Thailand’s Private Sector Collective Action
Coalition Against Corruption (CAC)

April 2019 The Annual Shareholders’ Meeting was approved final dividend payment of Baht 0.03 per share.

November 2019 The Board of Directors’ Meeting approved the payment of interim dividend for the year 2019
at the rate Baht 0.04 per share.

The Company’s core products are steel bars for construction. It produces round steel bars according to Thai
Industrial Standard 20-2543 with diameters ranging form 6 to 25 mm, 10 meters in length, and in SR24 g¢rade. Its
deformed steel bars are produced according to Thai Industrial Standard 24-2548, with diameters ranging form 10
to 40 mm, 10 and 12 meters in length, and in SD30, SD40 and SD50 grades. The Company’s steel bar products are
major raw materials in concrete building structure.

Revenue Structure

(unit: million Baht)

2017 2018 2019
Product
Amount % Amount % Amount %
1. Deformed Bar 1,242.13 52.77 1,197.78 53.32 1,086.38 52.37
2. Round Bar 1,086.68 46.17 1,031.16 45.90 981.58 47.32
3. Scrap 25.06 1.06 17.61 0.78 6.56 0.32
Total Revenue from sale 2,353.86 100.00 2,246.55 100.00 2,074.52 100.00

According to the above revenue structure, the proportion of the deformed steel bars sales increased significantly
from the previous year since the Company has completed the installation of machinery to enhance the production
process of deformed steel bars in 2015. With this upgrade production process, the Company can produce and
continually expand the market for the deformed steel bars sales.

Major raw materials are billets. The length to be used is six meters with cross section ranging from 100X100
mm. to 150X150 mm. They are imported from various countries including the previous Soviet Union Countries,
Turkey, for example. The Company majorly uses billets produced from iron ore. Such these billets have consis-
tent quality standard, enabling the Company to efficiently control and minimize production waste. With the use
of Thermo Mechanical Treatment (TMT) in the production process, the Company can enhance the properties of
steel to a more solid and the use of air cooling system via cooling bed in its production line ensures the consistent
steel quality through to the core.

With product quality and production process as its top priority, the Company has received industrial stan-
dard certification as well as ISO 9001:2015. Such international standard certifications earned the Company a great
recognition from buyer and people in the construction industry.

The company’s key target customers comprise of two groups as follow:

« Distributors: \arge-scale distributors with high volume purchase orders account for 90 percent of the total
purchase orders. Most of them place orders on monthly basis. They have been the Company’s customers
for a long time and have strong relationship with the Company.

« Retailers, retailers, contractors and real estate developers: The Company adopts a special trade policy on
this group of customers by paying close attention to payment terms. This group of customers causes high
administrative expenses but the Company can generate higher selling prices.

The company’s key strategies are as follow:

« Offering a variety of types and sizes of product to meet with diverse market demand and providing maximum
convenience by being its one-stop-shop for customers.

« Maintenance its ongoing-reputation as a quality product manufacturer.

» Being punctual and speedy in product delivery.

Setting appropriate prices considering market condition and competition.

Building and strengthening good relations with distributors.
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Industrial Situation and Competition

Overview of the Steel Bars Industry in Thailand

There are several steel bars manufacturers in Thailand. Most of them do not have the high production
capacity and are mainly located in the central and eastern regions of the country. The usages of steel bar in Thai-
land are mostly in line with the usages of cement or concrete in the construction industry. Therefore, it relies on
the factors that support the construction sector, which are the significant indicators of consumer demand. Since
steel bar is one of the commodity products that the consumers do not find the difference from each manufacturer,
therefore, the competition is mainly focuses on the price. Especially in Thai market nowadays, there are a lot of
excess production capacities over the domestic demand that makes the competition more intense.

Demand for Steel Bars

Most of the steel bars are mainly produced for domestic consumption. The impacts are then from
various factors effecting domestic construction sector e.g. government policies on infrastructure, irrigation and
transportation, private sector’s investment, real estate sector expansion, etc. Moreover, the seasonality also
has the impact on the consumption volume as well i.e. rainy season has an impact on the construction work,
resulting in a decreasing consumption of steel bars.

In 2019, the overall Thai economy has slowed down from the previous year. The gross domestic product
(GDP) fell from 4.2% in 2018 to 2.4% in 2019, affected by the global economic slowdown as a result of the
trade protectionism, conflict between the United States and Iran. The appreciation of the Thai baht has also
resulted in negative exports although there are positive factors from the growth of private consumption and
government spending. The world steel price situation is still volatile with the steel price stabilizing at the
high level in the first half of the year before declining in the second half of the year. However, the steel bar
industry which is the Company’s major product was expanded from the previous year whereby the domestic
steel consumption rose by more than 3% in 2019.

Domestic consumption volume of steel bar (Thousand tons) 2,526 2,445 2,613

Growth rate (%) 3.3 -6.4 -20.8
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Production Capacity

As mentioned earlier, the overall domestic production capacity from the large number of manufacturers
in the industry is far higher than the demand in the country. Barrier to enter into this industry is considerably
low as the investment required for the construction of steel bar factory is not too high and the production
technology is easy to acquire. Considering the level of expansion in steel bar consumption over the recent
years, the existing domestic production capacity can respond to the domestic consumption demand for the
next several years. Thailand has taken some safeguards to prevent the import of steel bars from abroad through
the non-tariff measures. All the steel bars distributed in the country must first be certified by Thai Industrial
Standards (TIS) under Thai industrial Standards institute (TISI).

The raw material cost represents a high proportion of the total steel bar cost. The cost of billets (main
raw material), ready for rolling, is accounted for more than 80% of the selling price. Thereby, the change in
raw material price significantly affects the business profitability. Sufficient raw material procurement in a timely
basis and at the competitive costs can generate good profits to the Company. In the meantime, selling price
is determined by the market mechanism which is not significantly different from other competitors. The main
raw material used for producing steel bars, billet, acquired either locally from smelting scraps then casting into

billets or imported from abroad (both from smelting scraps and producing from iron ores in the blast furnace).

Competition

Steel bar is the controlled product under industrial standards. Therefore, both quality and properties
of the products are not much different. Competition in the industry is mainly focuses on pricing strategy. In
the high competition environment, pricing strategy may concentrate more on liquidity management than the
profit per unit. However, maintaining the good relationship with the trading partners is regarded as a significant
marketing strategy for those in the industry as well, apart from maintaining the quality standards, reliability
on delivery and payment.

In 2019, the steel industry is in a fluctuating direction according to the world steel price situation. The
average selling price of steel bar has decreased from last year but the average cost of billet increased at the
higher rate. As a result, the gap between the selling price and the cost of the billet has been narrowed down,
causing the reduction in the profit margin of each manufacturer. Therefore, each manufacturer had rushed
the ordering process of raw material to produce the products as quickly as possible in order to be sold in
the highest volume. However, the world steel price was still fluctuate and unpredictable. It was necessary to

carefully manage the ordering process, stock of raw material and cost of sales.
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Risk Factors

Risk from Fluctuation of steel prices

Steel products are considered as one of the commodity which is sensitive to the price like other commodities
such as oil, coal and metals. Billets, the main raw material which accounted for approximately 90 % of the cost of
goods are mostly imported. Generally, the current trading market transactions are executed at the spot price and
goods are shipped by sea freight from the manufacturers in various continents. It takes around up to 3 months for
shipping the imported billets for further production. During the period between the booking date and the billet
received date, and until the steel bars have been produced (via hot rolling process) and distributed, prices of steel
may vary from the previous forecast. This is the most direct risk that effects the Company’s operating performance.
However, recently there is an effort to develop financial tools to protect or compensate the risk namely forward
contracts such as in the London Metal Exchange or other forms of derivative which may be used as tool for risk

protection in the future.

Throughout the time, the Company committed to build the strong relationship with the worldwide distrib-
utors of billets to secure the supply of raw material at the fair price and fast delivery. Moreover, the Company
planned to purchase the raw material in line with the domestic demand for steel in order to keep inventories at
the appropriate level to reduce the risk of such price change. In addition, the Company is seeking for domestic
billet sources to help ensure the smooth and continuous production.

Risk from the excess supply and price competition

Due to the overall domestic production capacity from the large number of manufacturers is far higher than the
demand in the country therefore most of the manufacturers utilize their capacity at the low level. The low volume
of production causes inefficient and high production cost, so that it is necessary for each of them to produce in
at least more than the break-even point. This creates over supply in the market and price cutting is unavoidable
strategy. In some interval during economic slowdown and demand contraction, some manufacturers of steel bars

may have to sell at the price lower than others and even below their costs due to their cash flow necessities.

Based on the above reasons, the Company has to adapt itself by expanding its production lines to produce
round steel bars with diameter of 6-9 mm which have low competition and requires higher production technology,
skill and investment but earn higher profit margin. The production and sale of this product have commenced since
late 2004. However, Company has completed the installation of machinery to enhance the production process of
deformed steel bars in 2015. With this upgrade production process, the Company can produce and expand the

market for the deformed steel bars sales.

As a result, the Company becomes the manufacturer of all ranges of size and quality of steel bars, which are
currently in demand. Moreover, Company’s production lines can be adjusted to produce some sizes of black shaft

for usage in mechanical industry and integrated industries.

The importation of steel bars is limited by non-tariff barrier because the imported steel bars are forced to get
the quality certification from the Thailand Industrial Standards Institute before sales distribution. However, such
measures can protect domestic manufacturers to a certain extent only because there are still cheap steel bars

imported from abroad.
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Risk from the fluctuation of the foreign exchange rate

Using imported billet as a key raw materials, the Company has trade payable in foreign currency. Thus, the
Company faced the risk from the fluctuating foreign rate comparing the rate on the date that the Company agreed
to order the raw materials and the date that the Company had to pay for the products. That means the costs in
Thai Baht are subjected to fluctuate at the order date (while the Company sells its products locally in Thai Baht)
and causing the managing of the metal spread even more complicated.

The Company realizes the importance of stability in the management of foreign exchange risk effectively,
especially in circumstances where the Baht is more fluctuating. Therefore, the Company implemented the tight
policy to limit its risk from foreign currency by engaging in forward contract or conversing the obligation for raw
material into Thai Baht as soon as possible. The Company has a revolving credit facilities with a commercial bank in
the form of foreign currency, Thai Baht, and foreign currency forward contract. Based on this policy, the Company

has a small amount of liabilies in forieign currency as of December 31, 2019.
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Significant Changes

Production and sales of Special Line

The aggressive competition in the steel bar industry is due to excessive capacity while most of the consumers
view that the products of each manufacturer are not significantly different. Therefore, competition is mainly on
pricing strategy. Considering the existing production potential and raw materials procurement, the Company focuses
on the products with fewer manufacturers and lower competition in comparison with other general products. The
Company has gained a processing cost advantage from the investment in the Special Line since 2004. Gross profit
margin from this Special Line is higher than other product lines, while increasing production capacity and market
expansion can be done consistently. However, the Company realizes the limitations of this Special Line market
that its consumption is limited. As the Company’s target is to increase its market share, thus, the focus in increasing
only the Special Line sales is not enough to meet that target. In 2015, the Company had the project to improve
the production line and increased the sales of Normal Line products, both round bars and deformed bars. Howver,
revenue from the sales of the Special Line was still at 20.3% of the total sales at end of 2019.

The proportion of sales from this special line for the past 3 years is shown below:

Proportion (% of total sales) 2019 2018 2017

Steel Bar from Special Line

Production Based on Trading Alliance’s Demand

Due to the excessive production capacity, in 2012, the Company entered into a joint business contract with one
alliance by producing steel bars under the alliance’s brand which was well known and credible in term of quality.
By this transaction, the Company expected that it would not only increase sales and revenues, but also helped
increasing the production capacity utilization and leading to the economy of scale. Furthermore, this alliance has
a high level of financial reliability. Therefore, the increase in sales volume from this transaction incurs a low risk

from payment collection.

The Company can build up the confidence with this trading alliance from time to time in terms of the quality
of products, reasonable price, fast and punctual in delivery. Therefore, this alliance has increased the volume of
orders and the sizes of the steel bar produced. As a result, the proportion of the sales from this alliance has been

increased over the past two years as shown in the below table:

Proportion (% of total sales) 2019 2018 2017

Steel Bar under the Trading Alliance’s Brand
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3 to 5 Years Goal

Profitability and Dividend

The Company’s goals within the next 3-5 years will focus on maintaining profitability and ability to pay dividend
to the shareholders consistently in compliance with the Company’s dividend policies. Moreover, the Company has

to continually maintain the current strong financial position by implementing the following policies:
« Manage risks appropriately, especially the risk of steel price fluctuation and foreign exchange rate risk.

« Offering a variety of types and sizes of product to meet with diverse market demand and providing maximum

convenience by being its one-stop-shop for customers.
» Focus on good profit margin products with a few manufacturers.
« Maintain the good relationship with the suppliers and increase the raw material procurement channels.

« Implement the appropriate marketing strategies, avoid price competition, etc.

Sales Volume and Market Share

The Company realizes the importance of increasing the sales volume and market share and therefore sets up
policies to maintain a good balance between making good profit margin and increasing the sales volume. In 2019
the Company can maintained the sales value at the same level as the previous year while the overall steel market
was still volatile. This was due to the sales strategy that offer the variety of type and sizes of the products for both
round steel bars and deformed steel bars in order to meet the customers’ demand. As a result, the Company can

maintained the market share of the steel bars sales at 5% in 2019.

The Company has set the sales volume growth target in 2020 at 20% from the previous year and increase its

market share to 6%.

Production

The Company has managed the production plan at the appropriate level and in line with the sales forecast.
Although the higher capacity utilization will allow the economy of scales to reduce the fixed cost per unit but
the current rate of the capacity utilization of the Company is still in relatively low level comparing to the existing
capacity. The current capacity can accommodate the increase in production volume in several folds without the

additional investment.

However, the Company has planned to continuously improve its production process and the quality of product.
In 2015, the Company has carried out the installation of machinery to enhance the properties of hardness steel.
With an investment of Baht 50 million, the Company can reduced the material costs and increased the efficiency
in the production process of the deformed bar. This project was completed in late 2015 and the Company can
produced and increased the sales of deformed steel bars.
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Dividend Payment Policy

The Company’s dividend payment policy is strictly based on maximum long-term benefits for shareholders.

Details are as follows:

1. The Company has a policy to regularly pay dividend at 40-60 per cent of annual net profit under conditions
set by the laws.

2. In case the Company needs large capital for business expansion, the Company may pay dividend lower than
the rate mentioned above. On the other hand, if the Company does not need it, the Company may pay
dividend higher than the rate mentioned above as deemed appropriate. Shareholders’ long-term benefits

are key factors in making decision on dividend payment.

Dividend payment must not have significant impact on the Company’s general operation. Factor affecting
dividend payment are business performance, financial status, liquidity, business expansion plan, the Company’s
debt service and other factors related to the Company’s business operations. Dividend payment must be approved
by the Board of Directors and/or shareholders’ meeting, depending on the case may be.

L

M'IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIHI

Annual Report 2019 45



[nsvasnunasnorua:nN1sInNIs

whoru

v
v o

eTouazdndiunishoru 10 suduwsn nieaunanstevuluseAutugegn
U194l

SO | NECIN | O R [ OoF i

—
(@]

46

nauiseUselnfa
yetey Seuselnia
YanunIni seuselnina

gUszlnia

oD

WU 3
a

Ugna

e

49
YIEUA LYY K9

a o & aa & o @
Usun Inedudsnens 3nin
WIYN U KA
YIBUA L8 LU
W 113 19 1387
WY 138 W9

YIYIVTE NYIUITING

C WENIe Y A

WYIYN9 YU N9

478,625,590
248,250,010
230,375,530
50
81,000,000
72,000,000
60,710,900
36,000,000
31,500,000
28,800,000
22,500,000
22,222,200
21,600,000
21,600,000

 JUR 31 UnsIAL 2563 LanelunIsNg

42.26
21.92
20.34
0.00
7.15
6.36
5.36
3.18
2.78
2.54
1.99
1.96
1.91
1.91



S

OO s

Shareholders and Management

Shareholders

Top-10 list of major shareholders, shown with their ultimate shareholders as of 31 January 2020 are in an

exhibit below.

Shareholder Name No. of Shares % of Shareholding

1. Viriyaprapaikit Group 478,625,590 42.26
Mr. Piya Viriyaprapaikit 248,250,010 21.92
Mrs. Kanokvipa Viriyaprapaikit 230,375,530 20.34
Mr. Win Viriyaprapaikit 50 0.00

2. Mr. Lee, Chih-Tsung 81,000,000 7.15

3. Mr. Lee, Chien-Hung 72,000,000 6.36

4.  Thai NVDR Co., Ltd. 60,710,900 5.36

5. Mr. Fang, Jin-Long 36,000,000 3.18

6. Mr. Lee, Yeh-Wen 31,500,000 2.78

7. Mrs. Fang Lee, Fong-Chiao 28,800,000 2.54

8. Mrs. Cheng, Wei-Fang 22,500,000 1.99

9. Mr. Vachira Thayanaraporn 22,222,200 1.96

10. Mr. Fang, Wen-Hung 21,600,000 1.91
Mr. Fang, Yuan-Hong 21,600,000 1.91
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Management

Management Structure

Management of the Company composes of Board of Directors, Audit Committee, and Executives.

Board of Directors

As of 31 December 2019, member of the Board of Directors consisted of 9 persons:

Number of director who is also an executive 1
Number of directors who are not executives 4
Number of independent director 4

The names of the Board of Directors are as follows:

1. Mr. Taweesak Senanarong Chairman, Independent Director
2. Mr. Win Viriyaprapaikit Director

3. Mr. Komkris Prachakris Independent Director

4. Mr. Charin Hansuebsai Independent Director

5. Mr. Tawat Polquamdee Independent Director

6. Mr. Fang, Jin-Long Director

7. Mr. Lee, Chien-Hung Director

8. Mr. Anuwat Chaikittivanich Director

9. Mr. Lee, Yeh-Wen Managing Director

Number and Qualifications of Independent Director

Board of Directors must comprise of Independent Directors in at least one-thirds of total number of Directors

but shall not be less than 3 persons.

Independent Directors mean Directors that have the following qualifications:

. Independent Director shall hold shares in the amount not exceeding 1 percent of total shares with full

voting rights of the Company, subsidiaries, associated companies or legal entity that might have conflict of

interest including shares held by the related persons according to Clause 258 of the SEC Act.

. Independent Director shall not be Managing Director, staff, employee, permanent advisor and person who

has power to control the Company, parent company, subsidiaries, associated companies, subsidiary or legal
entity that has potential conflict of interest.

Independent Director shall has no blood relation or legal relation as parent, spouse, sibling and offspring
including spouse of offspring with the Executives, major shareholder, person who has power to control or

person who is nominated as the Executives or person who has power to control the Company or subsidiaries.
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4. Independent Director may have Business relations with the Company

(a) Type of relation

 Relation in form of professional services

Types of relation: Auditor, other professional services such as legal advisor, financial advisor,
property appraiser and etc.

Significant level that is considered not independence
Auditor : Not allowed in all cases

Other professional services : exceeding Baht 2 million p.a. per contract

« Trade relation/Business relation (use guidelines similar to regulations on related party transaction
of SET).

Type of relation: covering all types of business transactions such as normal trading transactions,
rental contracts, property leases, asset/service related transactions and transaction of granting

or receiving financial assistance.

Significant level that is considered not independence: Transaction amount is equal to Baht 20
million or more or at least 3% of net tangible assets (NTA) of the Company or more whichever
is lower. Total transactions include transactions took place during the period of 6 months prior
to this transaction date.

(b) In case of relation according to (a) with legal entity or person that is considered not independence

such as major shareholder and MD.

(c) Prohibited period of relations according to (a) and (b): 2 years prior to the appointment and at present.

(d) Exception: In case it is necessary and appropriate but not regular and continuous. Independent

Director/Director of Audit Committee may have relation exceeding the significant level while he/she

is steel in the office but it requires prior approval from the Board of Directors by unanimous votes.

5. Independent Director shall not be appointed as the representative of the Board of Directors, major shareholder

or shareholder relating to the major shareholder.

6. Independent Director shall have no characteristic, which does not enable it to express the opinion

independently.

7. Independent Director having qualifications according to No.1-6 above mentioned may be assigned by the

Board of Directors to make joint decision in the operations of the Company, parent company, subsidiaries,

associated companies, subsidiary in the same level or legal entity that may have conflict of interest through

the collective decision.

Authorized Directors

1. Mr. Win Viriyaprapaikit Director

2. Mr. Fang, Jin-Long Director

3. Mr. Anuwat Chaikittivanich Director

4. Mr. Lee, Yeh-Wen Managing Director

For any signing of autograph for binding the Company in any transaction, two of four signatures of the authorized

directors are required together with the Company’s seal.

The Company Secretary appointed by the Board of Directors is Mr. Sathit Kosinanondh, who is also responsible

for the secretary to the Board of Directors.
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Scope of Authority and Responsibility of the Board of Directors

1.

10.

11.

12.

Designate the Company’s vision mission and business policy to bring about stability, balanced benefit of

all concerns, and maximize benefit of shareholders.

Consider and approve the Company’s business plan, strategy and budget, as well as follow up the

Executives, which operation reports are submitted in a regular basis.

Consider and advise of change in organization structure, policy and human resource plan.
Supervise the Company’s internal control and risk management systems.

Supervise the Company’s internal and external auditing process to ensure their efficiency.

Consider and approve the quarterly and yearly financial statements to ensure compliant with generally
certified accounting principles.

Devote themselves and their time to the Company. Seek no benefit for oneself or any particular person
and do nothing that is against the Company’s benefit or competes with the Company’s businesses.

Manage the Company’s business to comply with laws, the Company’s objectives, and regulations to preserve
the Company’s benefit. Ensure the Company’s business practices, especially for connected transactions
and inside information, are strictly in line with the regulations of the Stock Exchange of Thailand and the

Securities and Exchange Commission.
Create corporate governance and good practices as a listed company in the Stock Exchange of Thailand.

Protect the benefit of both major and minor shareholders with justice. Report accurate Company’s

information transparently to shareholders.

Promote ethics among employees at all levels with closely monitoring for results, in order to prevent

malpractice, abuse of authority and illegal actions.

To bring about close supervision of the Company’s operations, the Board of Directors could authorize
directors, subcommittee, person or legal entity to undergo tasks as assigned by the board jointly together
or separately. Any authorization must be under the legally specified scope of authority of the Board of
Directors and is subject to be clarified on the scope of such authorization. The authorization must not allow
the authorized person(s) to consider and approve agenda that the authorized person(s) and-or persons
with possible conflict of interest may be concerned in term of benefit or loss, or may disadvantage the

Company in any nature.
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Audit Committee

As of 31 December 2019, the Audit Committee consisted of 3 independent directors, each of which holds the
office for three years (from 27 August 2018 - 26 August 2021), as follows:

1. Mr. Komkris Prachakris Chairman of the Audit Committee
2. Mr. Charin Hansuebsai Audit Committee
3. Mr. Tawat Polquamdee Audit Committee

Mr. Komkris Prachakris has knowledge and experience which are adequate for performing its duties on review

the reliabilities of financial reports.

Scope of Authority and Responsibility of the Audit Committee

1.

2.

10.

Review the financial reports of the Company to ensure accuracy and adequate disclosure.

Review the internal control systems and the internal audit function of the Company to ensure that they
are adequate and effective and to consider the internal audit independence, as well as to approve the

appointment, transfer and dismissal of the chief of the internal audit.

Review the practices and processes of the Company to ensure the compliant with the securities exchange

regulations and other relevant laws.

Assess the adequacy of the Company’s risk management systems and the remedial measures for those

risks that have material impact on the Company.

Evaluate and nominate to the Board of Directors the appointment of the Company’s auditors together with
the recommendation on their compensation. The Audit Committee needs to convene with the auditor

at least once a year, but without the participation of the Company’s Executives.

To review connected transactions, or transactions that may lead to conflicts of interest, to ensure that they
are in compliance with the law on securities and exchange, and by-laws issued by the aforementioned

laws.

Prepare the Audit Committee’s report on the result of its overseeing activities and have it expressly

disclosed in the annual report. The report must be signed by the Chairman of the Audit Committee.

With the consent of the Audit Committee, carry out other matters as may be assigned by the Board of

Directors of the Company.
To report the Audit Committee’s activities to the Board of the Directors at Least four times a year

In performing its duties, the Audit Committee is empowered to order the Company’s Executives, unit
heads, or any relevant employee to give opinion, attend meetings, or hand over documents deemed
relevant and necessary to the Audit Committee.
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Company’s Executives

As of 31 December 2019, the Company’s Executives consisted of 7 members

1. Mr. Lee, Yeh-Wen Managing Director

2. Mr. Thavee Jatchavala Executive Deputy Managing Director and

Acting Administrative Department Manager

3. Mr. Sathit Kosinanondh Deputy Managing Director Finance & Accounting and Company Secretary
4. Mr. Chen, Wu-Hua Deputy Managing Director

5. Mr. Veerasak Laoruksakiat Sales Department Manager

6. Mr. Sheng, Chien-Hong Plant Department Manager

7. Ms. Chatrawadee Kumsanit Finance & Accounting Department Manager

Scope of Authority and Responsibility of Managing Director

Managing Director reports to the Board of Directors and has the authority and responsibility as stated below.

1.

1.

Perform the duty that complies with laws, objective, and regulations of the Company, policy, and assignment

of the Board of Directors.

Designate strategy and prepare the yearly business operation and budget plan for the Board of Directors’
for consideration and approval in appropriate time frame.

Improve and revamp organization structure and plan concerning human resource management to be in
line with the business operation and budget plan. Propose the plan for consideration and approval from
the Board of Directors.

To ensure of smooth business operations, managing director is responsible for revising and improving
operation manual on human resource, accounting and finance, and procurement, and propose the changes

of manual for the Board of Directors’ consideration and approval.

Run the Company’s operation under the designated business and budget plan, and achieve the target
set by the Board of Directors.

Managing director has the authority and responsibility as stated in the authorization manual and cannot
commit anything that may benefit oneself or is against the Company’s benefit.

Perform other duties as assigned by the Board of Directors.

Selection of Directors
Board of Directors

The Company has not set up a nominating committee to select persons to be the Company’s directors.

However, the Company has designated criteria in appointing directors. The selection of directors is considered by

the Board of Directors, based on each person’s qualifications, experience, vision and creditability. Furthermore,

according to the Company’s Articles, in each annual general shareholders’ meeting, a third of the directors must

be replaced by one, which are elected by shareholders’ meeting on the following principles.
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1. Each shareholder has one vote per each share that they own.

2. Each shareholder can exercise all votes that they have and could vote for one person or a more, but

they cannot give more votes to any candidate than other(s).

3. Candidates with the highest scores in respective order will be placed in the available vacant positions. In
case of equal votes received by candidates, Chairman of the Board of Directors will be the one to make

decision on the appointment.

In case of vacancy due to other cases than yearly automatic term expiration, and the term is not less than
2 months, the Board of Directors is subject to select qualified person(s) without any nature against laws governing
public companies in the next board meeting. Successful candidates must receive at least three quarters of votes
from the existing members of the board directorship. The replacement director ends on the same date as the
outgoing one.
Audi mmi
The Board of Directors appoints 3 independent directors as the Audit Committee, each of which must qualify
regulations under the Securities and Exchange Acts, and holds the office for three years. At least one of them must

has knowledge and experience which are adequate for performing its duties on review the reliabilities of financial
reports .The Audit Committee members who vacate the office might be re-appointed.

Management Remuneration
Cash Remuneration

- .--.--

Board of 4,730,875 Retaining fee, salary and 10 4,277,875 Retaining fee, salary and
Directors bonus bonus
(salary and bonus only (salary and bonus only
for Chairman and two for Chairman and two
directors who are on directors who are on
special assignment) special assignment)
Executives 5,872,000 Salary and Bonus 7 5,982,000 Salary and Bonus

Other Remuneration

-N/A-

PRty
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Good Corporate Governance

The Company attaches the great importance to the operation of business in accordance with the principles of
good corporate governance by aiming to build trust with stakeholders and managing the business to be suitable
for the current economic and social conditions.

The Board of directors, therefore, deems it appropriate to apply the principles of good corporate governance
for listed companies in 2017, issued by the Office of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), to set the
good corporate governance policy as follows:

Principle 1: Establish Clear Leadership Role and Responsibilities of the Board

» The Board of Directors Based on the philosophy of operation Business with sustainability think about creating
value added, economic growth, social responsibility and the environment. They act as a good example in perform
their duties and transfer the said philosophy to the management team in order to implement in the same direction
throughout the organization and set up a system for reporting the various operations at the Board of Directors’
meetings on a regular basis.

+ The Board of Directors determine Good Corporate Governance policy to be the guideline for the practice
of personnel at all levels of the Company including the directors, the executives, employees and all groups of
stakeholders. This policy will be disclosed through the website of the Company. Therefore, the directors and
executives must perform their duties with responsibility, caution and honesty to the organization and ensure
operations in accordance with the laws, regulations and resolutions of the shareholders’ meeting.

« The Board of Directors set the role of directors and the sub-committees in accordance with the laws, regulations
and the manual of Good business practice of the Company. They also review the structure of committee and
define the structure of remuneration of the director, the executives and staff in order to comply with the main
objectives of the organization.

 The Board of Directors specify that directors, executives and employees comply with business ethics and
create a corporate culture by specifying in the manual of Business Ethics for directors, executives and employees.
Moreover, they disclose the guidelines for promoting business ethics and follow up on a regular basis as specified
in the good corporate governance plan.

« The Board of Directors review and determine the Company’s vision, mission, direction and strategy for the
executives and employees to proceed with responsible for business in the same direction. They also set the framework
and operational power to suit with the management’s responsibility without interfering with management decisions.
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Principle 2: Define Objectives that Promote Sustainable Value Creation

The Board of Directors attaches the great importance to the determination of the main operation objectives
of the Company in order that the organization can grow with the sustainability, created value and benefit to the
organization, customers, business partners, employees, shareholders, stakeholders and the society as a whole.

In this regard, the Board of Directors has established the strategies, various plans, as well as follow up and
evaluate the performance regularly. In order to be consistent with the achievement of the main objectives of the
business with the innovation and technology being used appropriately and safely.

Moreover, the Board of Directors oversee the transmission of objectives through the strategies and plans
throughout the organization by considering the business plans and corporate strategies with regard to the creating
of lasting value for shareholders, stakeholders, society and environment

Principle 3: Strengthen Board Effectiveness

Performance of the Board of Directors and Committees
- Details of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors comprises of 9 directors, 4 of which are independent directors. For more details on
biography, authority, duties and remuneration, please see ‘Details of Board of Directors’ and ‘Shareholding Structure
and Management’ in this report.

The Company has only 1 Sub-committee namely the Audit Committee comprising 3 independent directors
appointed by the Board of Directors and will hold the office for the term of 3 years. For more details on biography,
authority, duties and remuneration please see ‘Details of Board of Directors’ and ‘Shareholding Structure and
Management’ in this report.

- Performance in the previous year

In 2019 the Company held totally 12 meetings and Company Secretary acted as secretary to the Board of
Directors. Each director received the invitation letter together with details of each item in the Agenda, 7 days
prior to the meeting. In each meeting at least half of directors attended the meeting. Chairman of the meeting
allowed directors to fully express their opinions and the meeting took around 1-2 hours. Attendance records of
each director are as follows:
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DO s

Board Meetings and Audit Committee’s Meetings in 2019

I No. of Board Meeting No. of Audit Committee Meeting
Attended Attended
Mr. Taweesak Senanarong 3/12 -
Mr. Charin Hansuebsai 12/12 5/5
Mr. Win Viriyaprapaikit 7/12 =
Mr. Komkris Prachakris 12/12 5/5
Mr. Anuwat Chaikittivanich 12/12 -
Mr. Tawat Polquamdee 11/12 3/5
Mr. Fang, Jin-Long 3/12 -
Mr. Lee, Yeh-Wen 11/12 -
Mr. Lee, Chien-Hung 2/12 -

In 2019 the Audit Committee made a self-assessment through the form guided by the SEC and found that the
committee was qualified in terms of specification and operating result under the scope of duty and authorities
according to good practices advised by the SET. Moreover, the Audit Committee has reviewed and modified the
Charter of Audit Committee which has been approved by the Board of Directors.

Responsibilities of the Board

The independence of Board of Directors from the Executives

As at 31 December 2019 the Company has 9 Directors, 8 of which are not the Executives (4 of which are
Independent Directors) and only 1 Managing Director holds the position in the Executives.

The Company’s policy prescribes that Chairman and Managing Director shall not be the same person. To
clearly separate the roles and balance the operating power, Chairman as the policy leader, engages in setting up
the vision and supervising the work of the high level Executives. It is prescribed that Vice Chairman (if any) or a
Director selected by the Board will act as Chairman in case Chairman is unable to perform his duty. On the other
hand the Managing Director’s main role is the leader of the Executives. He performs duty according to the Board
of Directors’ policy. At the present, Mr.Taweesak Senanarong holds the position of Chairman and Mr. Lee, Yeh-Wen
holds the position of Managing Director.

The Board of Director and the Executives have duties and responsibility to the shareholders. The duties and
responsibility of the Board of Directors and the Executives are clearly separate as specified in the scope of authority,
duties and responsibility of the Board of Directors and the Executives under the topic of ‘Shareholding Structure
and the Management’ in this Annual Report.
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Suitability of the Board of Directors

Board of Directors comprises of the persons with high qualifications, knowledge, capability, experience in
various fields such as being the expert in industry, finance and banking, engineering, education and art, commercial
and etc. (See ‘Details of the Board of Directors’ in this Annual report for Brief Biography of each Director.) Each
Director can make decision freely and devote time to perform their duty effectively. The Board of Directors has
appointed Mr. Komkris Prachakris the Chairman of the Audit Committee because he is the Independent Director
and the accounting and finance expert.

The Company’s Directors were trained and granted certificates from programs arranged by the Institute of
Directors as follows:

Director Accreditation Program il
Director Certification Program 3
The Role of the Chairman Program 1
Audit Committee Program 1

The Board of Directors set a policy that any Director who is doing any business that may affect to the Company’s
benefit must inform the Board as soon as possible.

Transparent Selection of Directors

Details of the consideration and selection of directors were mentioned in the sub-topic of ‘Selection of
Directors’ under the topic of ‘Shareholding Structure and Management’ in this Annual Report.

The new coming director will receive an introductory lecture on the nature of Company’s business, together
with a handbook of role, duties and responsibility of the director, as well as a factory visit.

Effectiveness in Performing Director’s duty

In the Board Meeting held on monthly basis (in 2019 there were 12 meetings), the Board of Directors assigned
the Executives to report the operating result for information on monthly basis. Each director had freedom to
inquire, make suggestion and receive the additional information on the forecast of the industrial situation in order
to jointly formulating the policy together with setting up the appropriate target of the operation. In each meeting,
there was no determined adjourned time; last year average meeting time was 1-2 hours.

Company Secretary acted as secretary to the Board of Directors as well as being a person who recorded the
Minutes of the Meeting, which will be certified by the Chairman and will be kept as data for related persons at
the Company’s office.

In 2019 the Audit Committee held total 5 meetings (including 1 meeting with the Independent Auditor and
without the participation of the Executives). In each meeting there were important matters to be considered such as
approval of the plans and acknowledgement of the result of the internal audit and internal control, consideration
of the related party transactions and potential conflict of interest transactions, consideration of the correctness and
completeness of the Financial Report, acknowledgement of the result of the operation and compliance with rules
and related laws and selection of the Independent Auditor for the year. Summary report of the Audit Committee’s
Meeting was submitted to the coming Board of Directors’ Meeting for acknowledgement.
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In 2011, the Board of Directors approved the “Company Ethics” and distributed it for every employee notification.
The Company Ethics comprises of 3 agenda;

e Business Practices

» Directors’ Practices

«  Employee’s Practices

In regards to the Director’s Practices, detail is shown below;,

1. Each Director shall do his duty in comply with laws, Company’s objectives, regulations as well as Shareholders’
solutions, with honest and carefulness in relations to the Company’s benefit.

2. Each Director shall be responsible for his duty in regards to availability and full effort to support the
Company’s continuous growth and appropriated earnings.

3. Each Director shall be responsible for shareholders’ wealth, and in the same time balance the benefit of
all stakeholders.

4. Each Director shall not use his authority to seek for his own benefit, and/or not share outsider the Company’s
undisclosed information, and/or not use such information to seek for its own benefit, and/or not do anything that
may have a conflict with the Company’s benefit.

Principle 4: Ensure Effective CEO and People Management

The Company has not yet established the Nominating Committee to select top executives but has specified
the qualifications of directors and senior management. Therefore, the Company can ensure that the recruited
directors and senior executives are suitable for the operation and comply with the business plan as specified in
the charter and code of conduct of the Company in order to meet the specified goals.

In addition, the Board of Directors also give the importance to understand the structure and relationship of
major shareholders which may affect the administration of the business and the power to control the management
of the Company. This is to ensure that it will not be the obstacle to the performance of the duties of Board of
directors and will also ensure the disclosure of information that may affect the appropriate control of the business.

In doing so, the Board of Directors has set a compensation structure for directors and the executives as well
as the evaluation system that is suitable for the scope of the responsibility duties.

Regarding personnel development, the Board of Directors will monitor and manage the personnel development
to ensure that they have the appropriate knowledge, skills, experience and motivation in order to manage the
business to follow the policy of good corporate governance efficiency as well as being able to continuously improve
the operation.
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Principle 5: Nurture Innovation and Responsible Business

Innovation Promoting

The Board of Directors attach the importance and support the creation of the innovations that can build the
business value with the focus on research and product development. Moreover, the customers will receive the
high quality products.

In addition, the committee also promotes the creation of various innovations with the use of efficient machinery
and advanced technology in the production process to reduce waste. This is the important cost saving to ensure the
most efficient operation of the Company under good control process including the development and conservation
of the environment and communities.

Social Responsibility

The Company believes that its past operations for the business benefits has partly contributed to the social
responsibility with always regard to the stakeholders as parts of the guidelines for many activities. This applies
to the level of compliance to rules and regulations and to the objectives of mutual benefits among non-specific
stakeholders’ groups. However, the Company has not yet determined the social responsibility of individual activities
into written policy guidelines, objectives, strategies and implementation plans.

This is the first Corporate Social Responsibility Report prepared by taking the guidelines from Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) as a framework to determine its content and format. The Company has determined
the scope of the report into the following 7 topics:

Stakeholders

Fair business operations Customers, trading partners, suppliers, society,
shareholders
Anti-corruption Trading partners, employees, and society
Human rights respect Community and society
Fair treatment of labor force Employees, trading partners
Consumers responsibility Society, customers
Environment conservation Community and society, customers
Participation of community and social development Community and society
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Fair Business Operations

In 2011, the Company by the Board of Directors determined the business code of conduct as well as the

directors’ and employees’ ethics. Parts of the contents take into consideration the following business ethics with

regard to the Company’s stakeholders.

The Company conducts its businesses on the basis of responsibility, transparency, honesty and competitiveness

by treating fairly and maintaining the balance of interests for every party as follows:

Shareholder and investor

Customer

Trading partner and creditor
Competitor

Employee

Community and society

Nation

Anti-corruption

The Company operates its business with good performance for reasonable returns

to the shareholders and investors.

The Company produces goods and services to meet the customers’ quality

standard requirements at fair prices.
The Company operates its business on the basis of fair support.
The Company operates its business on the basis of fair competition.

The Company takes care of the employees’ quality of life with competing employ-
ment conditions and appropriate fringe benefits, comparing to the labor market,
as well as the opportunity to progress under the safe working environment and
hygiene sanitation.

The Company conducts its business by engaging social responsibility with the

community and considers the impact on natural resources and environment.

The Company conducts its business to strengthen and develop the national growth

by following the legal requirements and general business practices.

The Company is committed to operate its business based on the corporate governance principles and social

responsibility to achieve the sustainable development. The Company acknowledges that corruption is a serious

threat that undermines the corporate and the nation as a whole. Therefore, in 2015 the Company has declared

the intent to join the Private Sector Collective Action Coalition Against Corruption. The Company has prepared

the operating plan and determi
on December 15, 2017. On Aug

ne the Anti-Corruption measures and entered the certification process with CAC
ust 21, 2018, the CAC Committee resolved to approve the Company become a

member of the Private Sector Collective Action Coalition Against Corruption.
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The Board of Directors has also approved the issue of ethics in business, Code of Conduct for Directors and
Employees. This Code of Conduct defines the basic principles of the professional practice for the directors and
employees to practice to stakeholders with honesty. Moreover, the Board of Directors has considered further to
include the anti-corruption policy in the ethics of business as follows:

The Company’s policy is to comply with the Anti-corruption law as per the following guidelines.
1. To build the awareness, attitudes, values, Law and regulation compliance with integrity to the employee.

2. To provide the efficiency and effectiveness internal control system including the checks and balances of
the power usage in order to prevent the fraud and corruption.

3. To prohibit the director, the management and staff to commit any claim or accept the assets or other
benefits for themselves or others in a way that induced to perform or refrain from perform the duties in a wrongful
way or the way that the Company may lose the benefits.

4. To prohibit the director, the management and staff to offer the asset or any other benefits to third parties
in order to induce that person to act or refrain from any action that is illegal or wrongful act on its position.

5. To provide the mechanism for accuracy transparent financial reporting.

6. To provide the channel of communication that staff and those who concerned will be able to report the
suspicious by ensuring that it is protected. And to appoint the officer who is responsible for investigating all that
incoming notifications.

Human Rights Respect

The Company attaches great importance to human right as the main policy in running the business towards
sustainability. Taking into account the respect for human rights of all employees.

The Company do not discriminate on employment and provide the equality of opportunity, regardless of
race, color, sex, religion, nationality, background of the person, political opinion, age or disability as the factors in
determining and deciding on employment. Moreover, the Company do not force people who do not volunteer
to work and do not hire the child labor. In the past, there have been no complaints about human rights abuses.

Fair Treatment of Labor Force

The Company has always realized that all employees are the Company’s most valuable asset. As the success
factor of the Company’s achievement, the Company provides fair treatment and care in terms of opportunities,
returns, appointments, relocation and welfare that are appropriate and fair such as.

The Company hires its employees by comparing with the similar businesses in the labor market. Apart from the
employees’ fringe benefits in compliance with laws, the Company also provides additional benefits appropriate for
the working conditions and places with regard to the mutual benefits e.g. bus transfers for employees commuting to
work. This responds to the employees’ safety due to fatigue from travelling to and from work. On the other hand,
it also helps relieve the traffic congestion to the community, save energy and reduce pollution caused by vehicles.

Catering is provided to the employees at the Company’s canteen. Besides saving expenses and time required
for preparing employees’ foods, this also concerns the employees’ health, sanitation and nutrition as well. The
Company believes that if the employees are healthy, they will perform their jobs more effectively.
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Consumers Responsibility

The Company continues to adhere and implement the policies that will satisfy customer’s satisfaction. The
customers represent the person who buy the product directly from the Company and the consumers who use
such products. The consumers can be assured that in addition to receiving the goods with the fair price and the
best quality, the Company is also aware of the safety that may affect society and the environment as well.

Apart from being certified by Thai Industrial Standards (TIS), the Company products have also been accepted
by the intermediary suppliers, construction supervisors and general consumers of its reliable quality under “BSBM”
brand. In addition, the products have also been recognized by the country’s leading business alliance who trusts
and allows the Company to manufacture the products under the alliance’s brand.

Though the Company is the manufacturer and distributor primarily to the large dealers (wholesalers), but
the Company also provides delivery service to the construction sites or retailers (who are the dealers’ customers)
as well, so as to reduce the complicated delivery redundancy burden, save time, save energy and reduce traffic
congestion as well.

Construction
work

Purchase order / payment

—

Dealer 4 A& R .. a

Environment Conservation

The Company was awarded Level 3 Green Industry Award from Ministry of Industry by having “Green System”,
which refers to the organization that has systematic environmental management; ¢ood monitoring; evaluation;
and review for consistent development. This Green Industry Award was effective from 2011-2013. In addition, the
Company also received the Certificate of Good Environmental Governance and has consistently been accredited
with ISO: 14001 Environmental Management Standard since 2005.

Since the Company has a piece of vacant land, adjacent to the present factory, to be developed in the future.
In 2010, the Company started to have improvement on approximately 90 rais of land by growing rubber trees and
other plants respectively. Apart from the direct economic benefits from these plants, these are the other ways
to increase green area to the community; become the animals’ habitats; represent good barriers between factory
and community; in order to reduce the community’s concerns on the environment. It is also a good example of
utilizing the vacant land for the community.
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In 2019, the company as a member of the Sahaviriya Group has conducted environmental conservation activities
with Environmental Specialist of Sahaviriya Group as detailed in the below table.

Environmental Activities

Environmental Activities

Participated in Environmental Monitoring Projects in Bangsaphan District such as Inspections of air pollution,
quality of rain, quality of surface water, quality of underground water and sea water. We also surveyed the
attitude of the Community regarding our operations.

Designed and implemented the system to manage the environmental complaints in the community and the
way to store the database.

Joined the 12th year exploration the wildlife in the surroundings of the community such as mammal, reptile,
amphibian and poultry for the further study and comparison.

Joined the event “Safety Week and Environment” and supported the event “Safety Week and Environment
in the West Zone” in Prachuabkirikhan Province for promoting the safety and environment campaign in the
community.

Sponsored the “World Environment Day” for the year 2019 in collaboration with the government unit and
local people by gardening the plant and releasing the sea water animal.
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Participation of Community and Social Development

The Company takes social responsibility as well as environmental policies of Sahaviriya Group, which the
Company is one of the members, as the guidelines for conducting its businesses. The Company is responsible
for the impact on society and environment from its business and corporate systemic operations, starting from
consistent protection, maintenance, improvement and development. This will foster the innovation practices within
the organization towards the society. The initial basis is compliance to laws, then consistence with international
standards; social ethics; environmental consideration; and balance of stakeholders’ satisfaction. The Company has
also supported business factors and directly participated in community and social activities.

(

Sahaviriya Group  ==% | Mission:

“Committed to the development
of steel industry for national
construction, community
development and environmental

friendliness in compliance

Affiliate Company of Bangsaphan — with sustainable development

Factory Group \guideline” )

, % , o
Sahaviriya Group Sahaviriya Group Sahaviriya Group
Environmental Community Community
Management and Development Relations Division
Promotion Center Division “Build up good relationship with
“Raise the affiliated companies’ “Help develop sustainable girectianelindliectistabeh slders
environmental management to the community by focusing on for susta!nable llvmg.betwee?
international level and become consistent community participation community and steel industry
the national leader in term of and building up confidence to
sustainable development” live together in peace”

L J . J . J

The Board of Directors focus on social responsibility by indicating in one topic under the Directors’ code
of conduct that the directors shall perform their duties with regard to accountability to the shareholders’ and
simultaneously to the relevant stakeholders’ benefits by treating every interest group appropriately and fairly.
Furthermore, the Board of Directors acknowledges their mutual benefits fairly and sustainably by indicating at the
end of “Report of the Board of Directors Regarding the Company’s Businesses” and appreciating every group of
the Company’s stakeholders for their annual cooperation.
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In most of the normal business operations at the Company’s factory and the affiliated companies under
Sahaviriya Group in Bang Saphan Sub-district, Prachuabkirikhan Province, we take into consideration the impact on
the neighbor community and always develop social responsibility work. The important and prominent activities,
organized between the affiliated companies and the community with mutual benefits, are as follows:

Participating with local college: in the initial stage, we cooperate with “Bang Saphan Vocational College” by
establishing “College of Bang Saphan Iron and Steel Management Technology” with the support on curriculum,
equipment and facilities, research funding and scholarship to produce the qualified and knowledgeable manpower for
the business unit requirements. This opens the opportunity for the young generation in the surrounding community
to study and have access to work in their domicile. Apart from saving the travelling cost, this activity also maintains
the good relationship between the family members and the community.

In 2019, the Company as a member of the Sahaviriya Group has conducted the community development
activities with Sahaviriya Group as per the details in below table.

Community Development Activities

Supported the training to enhance the capability in producing the product of local manufacturers in order to
increase the revenue and promote the collaboration of the community in the form of group process.

Encouraged the Sahaviriya Project Team to operate in collaboration with Village Health Volunteers (VHV) and
7 Health Promoting Hospitals in Bangsaphan area in visiting the elderly, the disabled and the disadvantaged
and providing the guidance on health care, free haircut , guidelines for exercise, etc.

Supported the participation in festivals and cultural activities in the community with the government agencies
in the area and donated for the activities such as religious (temple, mosque), the Red Cross Fair, Loy Krathong
Festival, wedding, funeral, ordination, new house celebration, the National Women's Day, the Village Health
Volunteers’ Day, etc.

Supported the Scholarship, the budget to hire staff and the budget to acquire the educational equipment to
the various schools in Bangsaphan District

Supported the establishment of 18 Community Banks and encouraged our employees and their families to
join as members and supported the site visiting to enhance the knowledge of the working team of the banks.

Supported the establishment "The Community Council" to encourage the 16 communities to systematically

manage their own communities and supported the fund for the site visiting of the board member and staff
in order to enhance the knowledge and performance of the Community Council.
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For the procurement of production factors from local entrepreneurs, besides supporting the community to get
the mutual benefits from the Company’s activities, it also saves transportation cost and time as well as reduces
traffic congestion. Proportion of expenses paid to the local entrepreneurs in Bang Saphan District is exhibited in
the table below:

Expenses paid directly to local community Baht 66,887,925 37.9%

*Remark: Exclude major raw material cost - steel billet and depreciation on buildings and equipment

Determining safety measures for delivery both in the local and outside community, including special measures
on the Company’s transportation companies beyond the requirements in laws, which cover vehicles; drivers; driving
rules; monitoring; clearly determined penalties apart from legal penalties. This will reduce certain level of accidents
from transportation causing the loss for both the Company and the community.

Principle 6: Strengthen Effective Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that the Company have the risk management and internal
control system that will enable the operations to achieve the objectives with the effectiveness and comply with
the relevant laws and standards.

The Board of Directors has appointed the audit committee which everyone must be an independent director
and do not have the prohibited characteristics under relevant laws as well as having the qualifications and duties
in accordance with the regulations of the SEC and the Stock Exchange of Thailand. The audit committee then can
perform duties efficiency and independently the various duties as assigned by the Board of Directors including the
review of financial reports, internal control system, legal compliance, auditor selection, the disclosure of Company
information and report of the audit committee, etc.

Moreover, the audit committee has the duty to understand the risk assessment methodology of the business
which the management has established significant risk management measures. The Company then has the risk
management system that varies with both internal and external environment factors according to the economic
conditions, laws and regulations appropriately and effectively.

The Board of Directors assess the internal control activities in five areas as follows:
1. Organization and environment

2. Risk Management

3. Executive performance control

4. Information Technology

5. Monitoring system

The Board of Directors viewed that the Company had sufficient internal control in all areas mentioned above,

including transection with major shareholders, directors, executives and those related to these people.

For the year 2019, the Audit Committee together with internal audit of the Company reviewed all areas of
the internal control to ensure their effectiveness and recommended to improve efficiency of some functions to
suit with current situations. Moreover the independent auditor gave additional recommendations to fulfill the
Company’s internal control.
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Principle 7: Ensure Disclosure and Financial Integrity

Disclosure and Transparency
Information Disclosure pursuant to the regulations of SET

The Company has a policy to disseminate Company’s information to investors both shareholders and potential
shareholders via channel that provide information to receivers on equal basis. In 2019 the Company disclosed
the information mainly via SET News. The Company appointed Mr. Lee Yeh Wen, Managing Director and Mr. Sathit
Kosinanondh, Deputy Managing Director and Company Secretary to have the authority to report such information. Last
year the Company was able to fully comply with regulations governing information disclosure of listed companies.

Quality of the Financial Reports

The Company had a policy to prepare accurate, complete and transparent financial reports in accordance
with accounting standards in both the transaction amount of money and explanation in the Notes to the Financial
Statements. The financial reports would be issued within the legal time frame and in accordance with the regulations
of the SET.

In 2019 the Company prepared 4 financial reports and each report was submitted to the Audit Committee’s
Meeting for consideration and consent prior to submission to the Board of Directors for disclosure approval and/
or consent with recommendation and propose to the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting for approval in case of the
year-end report. Besides, these financial reports had been reviewed and audited by the Independent Auditor as
shown in the Report of the Certified Public Accountant (by Ms. Isaraporn Wisuthiyan C.P.A. No. 7480 of EY Office
Limited) which expressed unqualified opinions for all 4 reports.

The Company has appointed the Auditors as approved by the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders for the
year 2019. The Auditors of the Company have the qualifications that complied with the SET regulations. The audit
fee for the year 2019 was fixed at Baht 1,240,000, remained the same as in 2018. The Auditors do not provide other
services to the Company and have no relationship and conflict of interest with the Company, major shareholders,
Management and their relatives.

Investor Relations

The Company does not have the independent Investor Relation Unit. The Company assigned Mr. Sathit
Kosinanondh, Deputy Managing Director and Company Secretary to be responsible for the duty of the investor
relations and Ms. Chatrawadee Kumsanit, Finance and Accounting Manager, to be his assistant. Investors can contact
Investor Relations Unit at telephone number 0 2630 0590-5 or via website: www.bsbm.co.th or via email at sathit@
bsbm.co.th or chatrawadeek@bsbm.co.th.
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Principle 8: Ensure Engagement and Communication with Shareholders

Rights of Shareholders
Board of Directors’ policy regarding the supervision of shareholders

The Board of Directors realized the importance of the good corporate governance, which was the key factor
to strengthen the organization’s efficiency and the foundation of qualitative and sustainable growth of business as
well as promotion of the organization’s transparent operation, which could be verified to enhance the confidence
of shareholders, investors, related persons and stakeholders. The Board of Directors believed that the good
corporate governance would add economic value to shareholders and maximize the benefit to stakeholders of the
Company. Thus, the Board of Directors committed to supervise and oversee the Company’s operation to be fully
in compliance with the principles of good corporate governance and rules of gsood practice for listed companies
according to guidelines of Stock Exchange of Thailand (SET) and the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). The
Company has had a lot of good practices implemented and also has several other ones undergone development.
From the latest appraisal on good corporate governance in the year 2019, we were counted on with level “Good”
by the Institute of Directors (IOD) with backup by SET and SEC.

Giving an opportunity to shareholders to study the information prior to the Shareholders’ Meeting

Shareholders were provided via the Company’s website a channel to propose agenda for the Annual General
Shareholders’ Meeting to the Board of Directors, starting 30 November 2018 for the period of 60 days for consideration
and approve agenda for the Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting for 2019. In the preparation of every meeting,
the Company has a policy to strictly comply with the law and regulation. In the previous year the Company held
the Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting for 2019 on 22 April 2019, whereas 6 out of 9 Directors attended the
Meeting (5 out of 9 Directors attended the Meeting in 2018).

The Company assigned Thailand Securities Depository, Company’s Registrar to send the invitation letters
notifying the Agenda of the Meeting together with the opinion of the Board of Directors and the Annual Report, 20
days prior to the Meeting (23 days in advance in 2018). Besides those details are also published a month earlier
on the Company’s website, including the Annual Report.

Promoting the Rights of Shareholders

In the Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting in 2019 on Monday 22 April 2019 at Silom Ballroom of Holiday
Inn, located on 981 Silom Road, Silom, Bangrak, Bangkok, the Meeting started at 14.00 with instructions on meeting
proceed, acting vote, and notification on the Company’s regulations in regards to the meeting. After an introduction
of Directors and relevant persons in charges, the meeting proceeded according to the agenda without adding any
additional item to Agenda from both the shareholders and Directors. There was no significant change of information
without advance notice. The Board of Directors allowed the shareholders to inquire and propose their suggestion
in each item of the agenda until they were satisfied. Chief Financial Officer attended the Meeting to provide the
information together with the Auditor to answer the questions if any. The Company Secretary and a few staff
recorded the minutes of the meeting and counted the votes as well as prepared sufficient ballots for voting for
each agenda to every attending shareholders. The meeting took around 2 hours.

The Company was granted by the Thai Investor Association an “Excellent” grade for holding of the Company’s
Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting for the year 2019, with higher scores than average of listing companies in
the SET. We have got “Excellent” grade for the ten consecutive years.

In addition to phone call contact, the Company has provided the other channel for shareholders, investors
and interested public to contact the Investor Relations Unit via website www.bsbm.co.th, whereas messages could
be put and delivered to the Investor Relations Unit.
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Equitable Treatment of Shareholders

In every Shareholder’s Meeting, the Company has a policy to assign an Independent Director to be appointed
as proxy of the shareholders who were unable to attend the Meeting. In the Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting
for 2019, Mr. Komkris Prachakris, Independent Director and Chairman of Audit Committee was assigned to be
appointed as the proxy of shareholders who was unable to attend the meeting as notified in the invitation letters
where proxy documents (type A, B and C) were also attached.

The Company disclosed voting results of each agenda and each voting item (if any) including approval,
objection and silent votes, as well as shareholders’ inquiries and suggestions with the Directors’ responses in the
Minutes of the Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting. The Minutes were published on the website [www.bsbm.
co.th] of the Company.

.
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The Company has a policy prohibiting an employee
to reveal internal information to others and/or for their

own benefits. The policy and measures are as follows:

1. Providing sufficient information and regularly
updating to executives in all departments about their
duty to report the portfolio of themselves, spouses and
children who have not attain manhood, and setting
penalty in accordance with the Securities and Exchange

and the Stock Exchange of Thailand’s regulations.

2. Requiring the Company’s executives to report
any changes in their portfolio within 3 business days to
the Securities and Exchange Commission and provide a
copy of such report to the Company on the same day the
report is sent to the Securities and Exchange Commission.
The Company distributed a memorandum and verbally
informed the management that the executives who
receive significant information which may affect stock price
must suspend the Company’s stock trading within one
month before the financial statements and/or internal
information are released to the public. The executives
are prohibited from disclosing the significant information
to others. At present, the Company has not yet specified
penalty on the breach of this rule, but let the Board of
Directors investigate and set penalty for individual case.
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At the meeting of the Board of Directors of Bangsaphan
Barmill Public Company Limited, No. 2/2004, on August
26, 2004 with the presence of the three Audit Committee
members, the Board of Directors appraised the internal
control system by discussing with the executives. The
Board of Directors assessed the internal control activities

in five areas as follows:
1. Organization and environment
2. Risk Management
3. Executive performance control
4. Information Technology
5. Monitoring system

The Board of Directors viewed that the Company
had sufficient internal control in all areas mentioned
above, including transection with major shareholders,
directors, executives and those related to these people.

For the year 2019, the Audit Committee together
with internal audit of the Company reviewed all areas
of the internal control to ensure their effectiveness and
recommended to improve efficiency of some functions
to suit with current situations. Moreover the independent
auditor gave additional recommendations to fulfill the

Company’s internal control.
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Reasons and necessity of connected transaction

The connected transactions between the Company, its subsidiaries and related parties have to follow the normal
operations and general trade conditions. Conditions and prices are in line with market price which is comparable
to prices charged on other counterparties in order to maximize benefits of all stakeholders of the Company, its
subsidiaries, and related companies which have common shareholders and directors. These transactions are also
audited by auditor.

Measures and approval process of connected transaction

In order to protect investors’s benefits, the Company will propose any connected transaction that has never
been approved to the Board of Directors, with presence of the Audit Committee, to approve that it is reasonable
and fair for all stakeholders, as well as contains appropriate price policy. The directors, who may have conflict of

interest, cannot vote to approve that connected transactions.

The future connected transaction must comply with the Securities and Stock Exchange Act, as well as regulations,
announcement and rules of the Stock Exchange of Thailand and those of the Securities and Exchange Commission,
including compliance to the rule on disclosure of connected transaction information and major assets acquisition

as required by Federation of Accounting Professions

For the auditing plan of connected transactions, the Audit Committee will assign the Company’s internal
auditor to monitor all details and propose all results of monitoring on monthly basis to the Audit Committee
for every quarter. The Audit Committee assesses that those transactions are appropriated and complied with all

concerned regulations, as well as maximize the Company’s benefits.

Future connected transaction

The company has no policy to lend except offering credit term. If connected transactions occur with persons
who might have conflict of interest in the future, the company will seek comment from the Audit Committee on
necessity and appropriateness of the items. In case that the Audit Committee does not have expertise in such area,
the Company will seek comment from independent experts or the Company’s auditor. The comment will be used
by the Board of Directors or shareholders’ meeting for consideration. The company will disclose all connected
transactions in the notes to financial statements audited by the Company’s auditor and in the SEC form 56-1
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Explanation and Analysis
of Financial Status and Operating Results

Overall Operating Results

In 2019, the overall Thai economy has slowed down from the previous year. The gross domestic product
(GDP) fell from 4.2% in 2018 to 2.4% in 2019, affected by the global economic slowdown as a result of the trade
protectionism, conflict between the United States and Iran. The appreciation of the Thai baht has also resulted
in negative exports although there are positive factors from the growth of private consumption and government
spending. The world steel price situation is still volatile with the steel price stabilizing at the high level in the
first half of the year before declining in the second half of the year. However, the steel bar industry which is the
Company’s major product was expanded from the previous year whereby the domestic steel consumption rose
by more than 3% in 2019.

GDP Growth Rate (%)

Domestic Steel Bar Sales Volume (thousand tons) 2,526 2,445 2,613
Growth Rate (%) 3.3 -6.4 -20.8
The Company’s Sales (thousand tons) 121 115 134
Growth Rate (%) 5.2 -14.2 -20.7
Market Share (%) 4.8 a.7 5.1

The Company has focused on the sales increasing strategy by offering the variety of types and sizes of product,
both round bars and deformed bars, in order to meet the customer demand and expand the market share. Moreover,
the increase in the production volume will help to improve the production cost. As a consequent, the Company
can maintain the market share at the level of 5%.

Statement of Income as for the Year Ended December 31, 2019
Revenues

The Company’s sales was decreased from Baht 2,229 million in 2018 to Baht 2,068 million in 2019 or 7.2% yoy,
due to the average selling price was reduced from Baht 19,300 per MT in 2018 to Baht 17,000 per MT in 2019 while
the sales volume was increased from 115,208 MT in 2018 to 121,142 MT in 2019 or 5% yoy. The major increase
came from the increase in local demand of steel bar.

2019 2018 2017

Product

Deformed Bar 1,086.38 52.36 1,197.79 53.32 1,242.13 52.77
Round Bar 981.58 47.32 1,031.16 45.90 1,086.68 46.17
Scrap 6.56 0.32 17.61 0.78 25.06 1.06
Total Sales 2,074.52 100.00 2,246.56 100.00 2,353.87 100.00

According to the above revenue structure, the proportion of the deformed steel bars sales remained at the same

T e e e ey,

level as the previous year. The Company has completed the installation of machinery to enhance the production
process of deformed steel bars in 2015. With this upgrade production process, the Company can produce and
expand the market for the deformed steel bars sales.
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Total sales were derived from domestic sales of steel bar, tail of steel bar and scrap. Details of proportion of

sales revenues are exhibited in the table below:

Proportion of Income by Product Category
2019 2018 2017
(% of Total Sales Revenue)

Sales Revenue (Million Baht) 2,074.5 2,246.6 2,353.9
Special Line 20.3 16.3 15.4
Normal Line 78.7 82.3 83.5
Tail of Steel Bar 0.7 0.7 0.8
Scrap 0.3 0.7 1.4

In 2019, the proportion of sales from special line, small steel bar category with high gross profit margin, has
increased to 20.3% of total sales revenue. The Company has the competitive advantage for steel bar in this category
in term of production cost as there are fewer manufacturers in the market. Therefore, price competition is not
severe and gross profit margin is higher than other product categories.

Costs and Expenses

The Company’s cost of sales was at Baht 1,957 million and Baht 2,145 million in 2019 and 2018, respectively
and the gross profit rate was at 5.4% and 3.8%. The gross profit rate in 2019 was significantly increased from 2018
due to the increase in metal spread, margin between steel selling price and cost of steel billet, from the average
of Baht 2,700 per MT in 2018 to Baht 3,300 per MT in 2019. The main raw material costs of steel bar is steel billet,
the highest proportion in cost of sales, which accounted for more than 85 - 90% of steel bar price. Moreover, the
price volatility risk of steel billet is considered high and there is no effective hedging instrument to deal with this

risk (details as discussed in “Risk Factors”).

The other parts of cost of sales are consisted of cost of production (processed by rolling) i.e. energy cost,
depreciation expense, labor cost and variable overhead cost, etc. Energy cost is more than half of all the production

cost.

The selling expenses were at Baht 31 million and Baht 29 million in 2019 and 2018, respectively which accounted
for 1.5% and 1.3% of total sales in 2019 and 2018, respectively. The major expense was the transportation cost
which directly related with the sales volume at the approximately rate of 1-2 %. The administrative expenses were
at Baht 28 million and Baht 27 million in 2019 and 2018, respectively. The major expenses were the employee
expenses which were slightly increased from last year.
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The proportion of the selling and administrative expenses to total revenue was slightly increased from 2018

as per the details shown below:

Proportion of Selling and Administrative Expenses to Total Revenues (%)

For the other income, the Company had the income from sales of scrap of Baht 6.6 million and Baht 17.6 million
in 2019 and 2018 with the related cost of sales of 2 million and Baht 5.7 million in 2019 and 2018, respectively.

From the Company’s foreign exchange rate management policies (details as shown in “Risk Factors”) in coping
with the imported raw materials from abroad, the Company could realize lower proportion of gain or loss from
foreign exchange when comparing with the Company’s revenues. In 2019 the Company had the gain from exchange

rate due to the appreciation of Thai Baht.
Profits

Since the average metal spread has been increased from Baht 2,700 per ton in 2018 to Baht 3,300 per ton in
2019 leading to the significantly change in Company gross profit from last year. Gross profit for the year 2019 and
2018 were reported at 5.4% and 3.8%, respectively. This was the major drive in this year’s performance as the net
profit was increased from Baht 33 million in 2018 to Baht 49 million in 2019.

Return on Equity

According to the Company’s performance for the year ended December 31, 2019 which the Company had
the net profit of Baht 49 million or equivalent to net profit per share of Baht 0.04, the Board of Directors deem
appropriate to propose in the 2020 general meeting of shareholders to approve the dividend payment at 0.04 Baht
per share, amounting to Baht 45.3 million. However, the board of directors has approved the 2019 interim dividend
for this amount and the payment was made to the eligible shareholders on 9" December 2019. Therefore, the

Company will not announce the final dividend for 2019.
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Statement of Financial Position as at December 31, 2019 with Comparative Previous Year
Assets

The Company’s total assets at end of 2019 and 2018 were Baht 1,954 million and Baht 1,959 million,
respectively. The current assets increased from Baht 1,120 million at end of 2018 to Baht 1,145 million at end of
2019 as Inventory balance was significantly increased from the end of 2018. This was due to the big lot purchase
of billet in the fourth quarter 0f 2019.

The Company can effectively utilize the existing assets as shown by the comparative proportion of revenues

to assets as per the table below:

(unit: million Baht)

Total Revenues 2,079 2,249 2,377
Trade Accounts Receivable 298 353 415
Inventories 744 470 381
Property, plant and equipment 806 836 858
Total Assets 1,954 1,959 2,012
Average Assets (beginning + ending) / 2 1,957 1,986 2,013
Total Revenues to Average Assets 1.06 times 1.13 times 1.18 times

From this table, the proportion of total revenues to average assets were still remained in the same level as
the previous year. Total revenues and total assets were slightly decreased from 2018. The Company still utilized
every Baht 1 of assets in 2019 to generate the income at the high level at Baht 1.06. It reflected the good results
from 3 policies: (1) inventory management to an appropriate level, (2) the balancing between profit margin and
sales volume which also improved the production capacity as well, and (3) the use of the machinery in production

with more efficiency.
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Liabilities
Total liabilities at end of 2019 and 2018 were Baht 68 million and Baht 41 million, respectively. The increase
in liabilities mainly came from Trade Accounts Payable as a result of the increase in billet purchased.

For debt to equity ratio, the Company could maintain the low ratio at 0.04 and 0.02 for 2019 and 2018,
respectively. This was mainly due to the usage of fund from the shareholder‘s equity instead of long term loan.

Debt to Equity Ratio 0.04 0.02 0.04
(Total Liabilities/Shareholders’ Equity)

Shareholders’ Equity

During 2019, the Company had no change in ordinary shares of 1,132,500,000 shares with the par value of
Baht 1.00. Shareholders’ equity as at the end of the period was Baht 1,886 million or Baht 1.67 per share. The
significant changes during the year were the comprehensive income of Baht 49 million and the dividend payment
of Baht 79 million.

Statement of Cash Flow as for the Year Ended December 31, 2019 in Comparison with the Same Period of

Previous Year

The Company’s net cash has been reduced by Baht 218 million in 2019. It was consisted of net cash used in
the operating activities of Baht 136 million which mainly came from the purchasing of inventory. Net cash used
in investing activities of Baht 2 million came from the purchasing of new machinery and equipment during the
year. Moreover, net cash used in financing activities of Baht 80 million was mainly came from the payment of the

interim dividend.

Liquidity

The Company maintained a good liquidity as same as the previous year as seen from its liquidity ratio, from
dividing current assets by current liabilities as shown in the table below. At the end of 2019, the Company’s li-

quidity ratio at 19.5x, decreased from 31.2x at the end of 2018. This high liquidity ratio reflects the high liquidity
of the Company.

Liquidity Ratio 19.5 31.2 17.5
(Current Assets/Current Liabilities)
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Responsibilities of the Board of Directors
for the Financial Statements Reports

The financial statements have been prepared in in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards
enunciated under the Accounting Professions Act B.E. 2547 and their presentation has been made in compliance
with the stipulations of the Notification of the Department of Business Development dated 11 October 2016, issued
under the Accounting Act B.E. 2543 and the rules of Securities and Exchange Commission under Stock Exchange
of Thailand Act. B.E. 2535.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the financial statements of Bangsaphan Barmill Public Company Limited
which are prepared to ensure the true and correctness of financial positions, revenues, expenses and cash flows
by keeping sufficient and correct accounting records in order to retain the assets, prevent frauds and irregularity
operations. As a regular practice the financial statements are prepared by using the suitable accounting policy in
accordance with the generally accepted accounting standards and the significant information is sufficiently disclosed
in the Notes to the financial statements. The auditor has expressed her opinion to the financial statements of

Bangsaphan Barmill Public Company Limited in the Auditor’s Report.

M&/’%WMrM (ﬁ‘

(Mr. Taweesak Senanarong) (Mr. Lee, Yeh-Wen)
Chairman Managing Director
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Aunsng
Aunswdnyuiisu
RUAALAYSIENITLUWSUEAR 7 60,493,037 277,937,310
grviinisdn 6 8 298,018,781 353,193,101
AurAAIna 9 743,792,127 470,174,712
ATanlssuareglnainea 11,196,780 644,957
miteseSuniu 30,330,645 16,193,909
Auniwdnyuioudu 1,460,073 1,566,731
FuRunIndvyuIeu 1,145,291,443 1,119,710,720
Auniwdlinyuieu
ﬁau mm'iu,azqﬂﬂiai 10 806,330,444 835,691,941
Funsnsildleldlunsiidiuau 11 - -
Funsndnmstulasensdatayd 17 1,914,335 3,229,166
Funndlimyuioudu 705,000 705,000
suduninglaivyuiey 808,949,779 839,626,107
SuRUNSNG 1,954,241,222 1,959,336,827
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wiiaulsivayuiieu
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s1eld
seleannisune 2,067,961,440 2,228,915,926
s1elidu
s1elennIsELAYEA 6,565,679 17,606,081
Buq 4,505,365 1,943,393
el 2,079,032,484 2,248,465,400
Aldane
éfuv;uma 1,956,516,109 2,145,315,168
é’unumamwm 2,027,441 5,669,987
AlgaglunsvenazIng e 31,054,514 28,922,709
AlgaelunsUINg 27,952,656 26,802,373
souA g 2,017,550,720 2,206,710,237
MlsnaudunumenIstusasA ldanen8Qula 61,481,764 41,755,163
AUYLUNNNTTRY (591,533) (301,070)
mlsnaualdgnanskule 60,890,231 41,454,093
AlgneERule 17 (12,340,629) (8,342,086)
mlsdmiul 48,549,602 33,112,007
Alsvanudaaiodu :
y1emsiiaglaignvuiinludiuvesrlsnSevianuluniends
narlsannsussanaunsmuranadaansUse iUy
- gvizannERulel 683,444 i
ﬁ'flimﬂv;uﬁma%suém%'uﬂ 683,444 -
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Mlssiavu 18
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(MUe : un)
S T e
NITUARUANIINAINTTUANTUIUY
mlsnauAtlgdnendidula 60,890,231 41,454,093
srensusunsenugennilsiaunne

WuRuansu (319) 3nfanssusiiuay

V’]"]Lﬁlauﬁﬂ’] 36,498,381 32,154,850
mlsannnsdmiieaunsad - (448,597)
3'1Emfﬁﬂ%’uam'mmwuaqauﬁflmm%mﬂu;ﬂamqm%ﬁaﬂé’%’u (Qeunau) (8,625,304) 8,625,304
sumvlumﬂé’mml,aﬂLﬂﬁauﬁé’ﬂmﬁm%uﬁq 360,498 1,058,692
Alddreietunalselovisvozemnvoaninau 3,405,455 1,052,497
ponidesu (1,005,343) (1,083,346)
aldsnemenite 424,688 176,024
mlsmnmssniuauneunsidsunwvasuduning

wagvhaus iy 91,948,606 82,989,017
Funindanfiuau (Rudu) anas

QAviinIsén 55,174,320 62,167,661
AuAAna (270,449,153) (101,476,578)
%uw%’wémuﬁ‘auﬁu (24,581,901) (9,658,515)
viausniunuiuty (anas)

dmiinsiuasdmiau 17,873,187 (22,290,377)
Rusudrmiinngnen 1,383,310 (714,1440)
Mﬁﬁumuﬁau?ﬁu 4,271,217 (100,443)
Ruaninenalszleviszuzenveaniinau (500,000) (510,900)
wuaaain (A4lulu) Aanssuantiuau (124,880,414) 10,405,721
pondefu 1,005,343 1,083,846
FenEdule (11,829,174) (17,027,566)
Ruangnsldlulufanssuaniiveu (135,704,245) (5,537,999)
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(1,679,842)

(1,679,842)

(424,688)
(79,275,000)
(79,699,688)
(360,498)
(217,444,273)
277,937,310
60,493,037

5,457,042

683,444

(6,043,315)
448,598
(5,594,717)

(176,024)
(56,625,000)
(56,801,024)
(1,058,692)
(68,992,432)
346,929,742
277,937,310

3,995,561
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of Bangsaphan Barmill Public Company Limited
Opinion

| have audited the accompanying financial statements of Bangsaphan Barmill Public Company Limited (the
Company), which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, and the related statements
of comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In my opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Bangsaphan Barmill Public Company Limited as at 31 December 2019, its financial performance and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards.

Basis for Opinion

| conducted my audit in accordance with Thai Standards on Auditing. My responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of my report.
I am independent of the Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants as issued by
the Federation of Accounting Professions as relevant to my audit of the financial statements, and | have fulfilled
my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. | believe that the audit evidence | have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in my professional judgement, were of most significance in my audit
of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of my audit of the
financial statements as a whole, and in forming my opinion thereon, and | do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

| have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of my report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, my audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to my assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements. The results of my audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters
below, provide the basis for my audit opinion on the accompanying financial statements as a whole.

Key audit matters and how audit procedures respond to each matter are describe below.
Revenue recognition

Revenue from sales is one of the Company’s significant accounts because it directly impacts on the
Company’s annual profit or loss. During 2019, the Company recognised revenue from sales of Baht 2,068 million
or representing 99 percent of the Company’s total revenue. Moreover, the sales volumes and selling prices of the
Company correlate with the global market price of steel billet. | therefore focused on the amount and timing of
the Company’s revenue recognition.

| have examined the revenue recognition of the Company by assessing and testing the Company’s internal
controls with respect to the revenue cycle. This involved making enquiry of responsible executives, gaining an
understanding of the controls and selecting representative samples to test the operation of the designed controls.
| also examined supporting documents for actual sales transactions, on a sampling basis, occurring during the
year and near the end of the accounting period, reviewed credit notes that the Company issued to its customers
after the period-end, and performed analytical procedures to detect possible irregularities in sales transactions
throughout the period.
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Allowance for diminution in value of inventory

Estimating the net realisable value of inventories, as disclosed in Note 9 to the financial statements, is an area
of management judgment. This is because the inventories of the Company are a commodity product and prices
fluctuate in accordance with the global market price, and also based on domestic supply and demand. In addition,
estimation of the net realisable value of inventories requires the use of estimates of the costs of completed
production, relating selling expenses and selling price. There is a risk with respect to the amount of provision set
aside for diminution in value of inventory.

| assessed the method and the assumptions applied by the Company’s management in determining the provision
for diminution in value of inventory by making enquiry of responsible executives and gaining an understanding of
the basis applied by management in determining the provision for diminution in value of inventory. | also reviewed
the consistency of the application of that basis, and compared proceeds from sales transactions occurring after
the date of the financial statements with the cost of inventory for each product line.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprise the information included
in annual report of the Company, but does not include the financial statements and my auditor’s report thereon.
The annual report of the Company is expected to be made available to me after the date of this auditor’s report.

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and | do not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or my
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

When | read the annual report of the Company, if | conclude that there is a material misstatement therein,
I am required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance for correction of the misstatement.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with Thai Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with Thai Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with Thai Standards on Auditing, | exercise professional judgement and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. | also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If | conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, | am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

| communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that |
identify during my audit.

| also provide those charged with governance with a statement that | have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on my independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, | determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. | describe these matters in my auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, | determine that a matter should not be communicated in
my report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

I am responsible for the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report.

Tammped w\;’o«\/‘xw%

Isaraporn Wisutthiyan
Certified Public Accountant (Thailand) No. 7480

EY Office Limited
Bangkok: 24 February 2020
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Statement of Financial Position

Bangsaphan Barmill Public Company Limited
As at 31 December 2019

(Unit: Baht)
I " B S TR
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7 60,493,037 277,937,310
Trade receivables 6, 8 298,018,781 353,193,101
Inventories 9 743,792,127 470,174,712
Advance payment for supplies and spare parts 11,196,780 644,957
Input tax refundable 30,330,645 16,193,909
Other current assets 1,460,073 1,566,731
Total current assets 1,145,291,443 1,119,710,720
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 10 806,330,444 835,691,941
Non-operating asset 11 = =
Deferred tax assets 17 1,914,335 3,229,166
Other non-current assets 705,000 705,000
Total non-current assets 808,949,779 839,626,107
Total assets 1,954,241,222 1,959,336,827

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

Annual Report 2019

139

I e e,



Qll

ZHI

Statement of Financial Position (continued)

Bangsaphan Barmill Public Company Limited
As at 31 December 2019

(Unit: Baht)

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 6, 13 39,332,223 21,459,036
Advance received from customer 9,895,131 8,511,821
Income tax payable 4,556,752 5,189,267
Withholding tax payable 4,597,883 324,890
Other current liabilities 421,977 423,753
Total current liabilities 58,803,966 35,908,767
Non-current liabilities

Provision for long-term employee benefits 14 9,571,675 7,520,525
Total non-current liabilities 9,571,675 7,520,525
Total liabilities 68,375,641 43,429,292
Shareholders’ equity

Share capital

Registered

1,132,500,000 ordinary shares of Baht 1 each 1,132,500,000 1,132,500,000

Issued and fully paid-up

1,132,500,000 ordinary shares of Baht 1 each 1,132,500,000 1,132,500,000

I T T T T T TN

Ordinary share premium 621,846,700 621,846,700
Retained earnings

Appropriated - statutory reserve 15 113,250,000 113,250,000
Unappropriated 18,268,881 48,310,835
Total shareholders’ equity 1,885,865,581 1,915,907,535
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 1,954,241,222 1,959,336,827

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statement of comprehensive income

Bangsaphan Barmill Public Company Limited
For the year ended 31 December 2019

(Unit: Baht)

Profit or loss:

Revenues

Sales

Other income

Revenue from sale of scrap

Others

Total revenues

Expenses

Cost of sales

Cost of sales of scrap

Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses

Total expenses

Profit before finance cost and income tax expenses
Finance cost

Profit before income tax expenses
Income tax expenses

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income:

Other comprehensive income not to be reclassified to

profit or loss in subsequent periods
Actuarial gain - net of income tax

Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

17

18

2,067,961,440

6,565,679
4,505,365
2,079,032,484

1,956,516,109
2,027,441
31,054,514
27,952,656
2,017,550,720
61,481,764
(591,533)
60,890,231
(12,340,629)
48,549,602

683,444
683,444

49,233,046

0.04

2,228,915,926

17,606,081
1,943,393
2,248,465,400

2,145,315,168
5,669,987
28,922,709
26,802,373
2,206,710,237
41,755,163
(301,070)
41,454,093
(8,342,086)
33,112,007

33,112,007

0.03
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Cash flow statement

Bangsaphan Barmill Public Company Limited
For the year ended 31 December 2019

(Unit: Baht)
I TR T
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before income tax expense 60,890,231 41,454,093
Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash

provided by (paid from) operating activities:

Depreciation 36,498,381 32,154,850
Gains on sales of equipment - (448,597)
Reduction of inventory to net realisable value (reversal) (8,625,304) 8,625,304
Unrealised loss on exchange 360,498 1,058,692
Provision for long-term employee benefits 3,405,455 1,052,497
Interest income (1,005,343) (1,083,846)
Interest expenses 424,688 176,024

Profit from operating activities before changes in

operating assets and liabilities 91,948,606 82,989,017
Operating assets (increase) decrease

Trade receivables 55,174,320 62,167,661
Inventories (270,449,153) (101,476,578)
Other current assets (24,581,901) (9,658,515)

Operating liabilities increase (decrease)

Trade and other payables 17,873,187 (22,290,377)
Advance received from customers 1,383,310 (714,144)
Other current liabilities 4,271,217 (100,443)
Cash paid for long-term employee benefits (500,000) (510,900)
Cash flows from (used in) operating activities (124,880,414) 10,405,721
Cash received from interest income 1,005,343 1,083,846
Cash paid for income tax (11,829,174) (17,027,566)
Net cash flows from used in operating activities (135,704,245) (5,537,999)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Cash flow statement (continued)

ZHI

Bangsaphan Barmill Public Company Limited
For the year ended 31 December 2019

(Unit: Baht)

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of equipment

Proceeds from sales of equipment

Net cash flows used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities

Interest paid

Dividend paid

Net cash flows used in financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Supplemental cash flows information
Non-cash transaction
Transfer inventories to equipment

Actuarial gain - net of income tax

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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(1,679,842)

(1,679,842)

(424,688)
(79,275,000)
(79,699,688)
(360,498)
(217,444,273)
277,937,310
60,493,037

5,457,042
683,444

(6,043,315)
448,598
(5,594,717)

(176,024)
(56,625,000)
(56,801,024)
(1,058,692)
(68,992,432)
346,929,742
277,937,310

3,995,561



Notes to Financial Statements

Bangsaphan Barmill Public Company Limited
For the year ended 31 December 2019

1. General information
1.1 Corporate information

Bangsaphan Barmill Public Company Limited (“the Company”) is a public company incorporated and
domiciled in Thailand. The Company is principally engaged in the manufacture and distribution of deformed
and round steel bars. The registered office of the Company is at 28/1 Prapawit building, 8th Floor, Surasak
Road, Kwang Silom, Khet Bangrak, Bangkok. Its plant is located at 8 Moo 7, Ban Klang Na-Yai Ploy Road, Tambon
Mae Rumphueng, Amphur Bangsaphan, Prachuabkirikhan.

2. Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards enunciated
under the Accounting Professions Act B.E. 2547 and their presentation has been made in compliance with the
stipulations of the Notification of the Department of Business Development dated 11 October 2016, issued under
the Accounting Act B.E. 2543,

The financial statements in Thai language are the official statutory financial statements of the Company. The

financial statements in English language have been translated from the Thai language financial statements.

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except where otherwise disclosed in

the accounting policies.

3. New financial reporting standards
(a) Financial reporting standards that became effective in the current year

During the period, the Company has adopted the revised (revised 2018) and new financial reporting
standards and interpretations which are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2019. These
financial reporting standards were aimed at alignment with the corresponding International Financial Reporting
Standards with most of the changes directed towards clarifying accounting treatment and providing accounting
guidance for users of the standards. The adoption of these financial reporting standards does not have any
significant impact on the Company’s financial statements. However, the new standard involves changes to

key principles, which are summarised below:
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TFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

TFRS 15 supersedes the following accounting standards together with related interpretations.

TAS 11 (revised 2017) Construction contracts

TAS 18 (revised 2017) Revenue

TSIC 31 (revised 2017) Revenue - Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services
TFRIC 13 (revised 2017) Customer Loyalty Programmes

TFRIC 15 (revised 2017) Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate

TFRIC 18 (revised 2017) Transfers of Assets from Customers

Entities are to apply this standard to all contracts with customers unless those contracts fall within the
scope of other standards. The standard establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from
contracts with customers, with revenue being recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which
an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The standard
requires entities to exercise judgement, taking into consideration all of the relevant facts and circumstances
when applying each step of the model.

This standard does not have any significant impact on the Company’s financial statements.

(b) Financial reporting standards that will become effective for fiscal years beginning on or after
1 January 2020

The Federation of Accounting Professions issued a number of new and revised financial reporting standards
and interpretations, which are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2020. These financial
reporting standards were aimed at alignment with the corresponding International Financial Reporting Standards
with most of the changes directed towards clarifying accounting treatment and providing accounting guidance
for users of the standards except the following new standards which involve changes to key principles, which
are summarised below.

Financial reporting standards related to financial instruments

A set of TFRSs related to financial instruments consists of five accounting standards and interpretations,
as follows:

Financial reporting standards:
TFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

TFRS 9 Financial Instruments

Accounting standard:

TAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation

Financial Reporting Standard Interpretations:
TFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation
TFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments
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These TFRSs related to financial instruments make stipulations relating to the classification of financial
instruments and their measurement at fair value or amortised cost (taking into account the type of instrument, the
characteristics of the contractual cash flows and the Company’s business model), calculation of impairment using
the expected credit loss method, and hedge accounting. These include stipulations regarding the presentation
and disclosure of financial instruments. When the TFRSs related to financial instruments are effective, some

accounting standards, interpretations and guidance which are currently effective will be cancelled.

The management of the Company believes that adoption of these standards will not have any significant
impact on the financial statements.

TFRS 16 Leases

TFRS 16 supersedes TAS 17 Leases together with related Interpretations. The standard sets out the principles
for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases, and requires a lessee to recognise
assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is low value.

Accounting by lessors under TFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from TAS 17. Lessors will continue to
classify leases as either operating or finance leases using similar principles to those used under TAS 17.

The management of the Company believes that adoption of this standard will not have any significant
impact on the financial statements.

Significant accounting policies
4.1 Revenue recognition
Sales of goods

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to
the customer, generally on delivery of the goods. Revenue is measured at the amount of the consideration
received or receivable, excluding value added tax, of goods supplied after deducting discounts and price
promotions to customers.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis based on the effective interest rate.
4.2 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand and at bank, and all highly liquid investments with an

original maturity of three months or less and not subject to withdrawal restrictions.
4.3 Trade accounts receivable

Trade accounts receivable are stated at the net realisable value. Allowance for doubtful accounts is
provided for the estimated losses that may be incurred in collection of receivables. The allowance is generally
based on collection experiences and analysis of debt aging.

4.4 Inventories

Finished goods are valued at the lower of cost (under the average method) and net realisable value. Cost
includes all production costs and attributable factory overheads.

Raw material and manufacturing supplies are valued at the lower of average cost and net realisable value.
Spare parts are valued at the lower of cost (the first-in, first-out method) and net realisable value.

Raw materials and factory supplies are changed to production costs whenever consumed.
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4.5 Property, plant and equipment/Depreciation

Land is stated at cost. Buildings, equipment and bearer plant (rubber trees) stated at cost less accumulated

depreciation and allowance for loss on impairment of assets (if any).

Depreciation of buildings and equipment is calculated by reference to their costs on the straight-line basis
over the following estimated useful lives, except for machinery and equipment in production line which is

depreciated using the units-of-production method.

Office buildings 20 years
Plant building and plant building improvement 30 years
Machinery and equipment in production line production units estimated

- Normal line at a total 7.2 million tons

- Special line at a total of 0.864 million tons
Equipment 5, 10 years
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Bearer plant 20 years

No depreciation is provided on land, machinery under installation.
Depreciation is included in determining income.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on disposal of an asset is included in profit or loss when

the asset is derecognised.
4.6 Related party transactions

Related parties comprise individuals or enterprises that control, or are controlled by, the Company, whether

directly or indirectly, or which are under common control with the Company.

They also include associated companies, and individuals or enterprises which directly or indirectly own a
voting interest in the Company that gives them significant influence over the Company, and key management

personnel, and directors and officers with authority in the planning and direction of the Company’s operations.
4.7 Leases

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight line basis over the

lease term.
4.8 Foreign currencies
The financial statements are presented in Baht, which is also the Company’s functional currency.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Baht at the exchange rate ruling at the date of the
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Baht at the

exchange rate ruling at the end of reporting period.

Gains and losses on exchange are included in determining income.
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4.9 Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Company performs impairment reviews in respect of the property,
plant and equipment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that an asset may be impaired.
An impairment loss is recognised when the recoverable amount of an asset, which is the higher of the asset’s
fair value less costs to sell and its value in use, is less than the carrying amount. In determining value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining
fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by
a valuation model that, based on information available, reflects the amount that the Company could obtain
from the disposal of the asset in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties, after
deducting the costs of disposal.

An impairment loss is recognised in the profit or loss.
4.10 Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, wages, bonuses and contributions to the social security fund are recognised as expenses when

incurred.
Post-employment benefits
Defined contribution plans

The Company and its employees have jointly established a provident fund. The fund is monthly contributed
by employees and by the Company. The fund’s assets are held in a separate trust fund and the Company’s

contributions are recognised as expenses when incurred.
Defined benefit plans

The Company has obligations in respect of the severance payments it must make to employees upon

retirement under labor law. The Company treats these severance payment obligations as a defined benefit plan.

The obligation under the defined benefit plan is determined by a professionally qualified independent

actuary based on actuarial techniques, using the projected unit credit method.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from defined benefit plans are recognised immediately in other

comprehensive income.

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss on the earlier of the date of the plan amendment or
curtailment and the date that the Company recognised restructuring - related costs.

4.11 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation,

and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

4.12 Income tax
Income tax expense represents the sum of corporate income tax currently payable and deferred tax.
Current tax

Current income tax is provided in the accounts at the amount expected to be paid to the taxation

authorities, based on taxable profits determined in accordance with tax legislation.
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Deferred tax

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts at the end of each reporting period, using the tax rates enacted at the end of the

reporting period.

The Company recognises deferred tax liabilities for all taxable temporary differences while they recognise
deferred tax assets for all deductible temporary differences and tax losses carried forward to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which such deductible temporary differences

and tax losses carried forward can be utilised.

At each reporting date, the Company reviews and reduces the carrying amount of deferred tax assets to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of

the deferred tax asset to be utilised.

The Company records deferred tax directly to shareholders’ equity if the tax relates to items that are

recorded directly to shareholders’ equity.

Significant accounting judgments and estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with financial reporting standards at times requires
management to make subjective judgments and estimates regarding matters that are inherently uncertain.
These judgments and estimates affect reported amounts and disclosures; and actual results could differ from

estimates. Significant judgments and estimates are as follows:
Allowance for diminution in value of inventory

In determining allowance for diminution in value of inventory, the management exercises judgment in
estimating the net realisable value of inventory based on the amount the inventories are expected to realise.
These estimates are based on estimates of selling prices, which take into account events occurring after the
end of the period and estimates of related costs and expenses.

Property plant and equipment/Depreciation

In determining depreciation of plant and equipment, the management is required to make estimates
of the useful lives and residual values of the plant and equipment and to review estimate useful lives and
residual values when there are any changes.

In addition, the management is required to review property, plant and equipment for impairment on a
periodical basis and record impairment losses when it is determined that their recoverable amount is lower
than the carrying amount. This requires judgments regarding forecast of future revenues and expenses relating
to the assets subject to the review.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences and
losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred
tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of estimate future taxable profits.

Post-employment benefits under defined benefit plans

The obligation under the defined benefit plan is determined based on actuarial techniques. Such
determination is made based on various assumptions, including discount rate, future salary increase rate,

mortality rate and staff turnover rate.
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6. Related party transactions

During the years, the Company had significant business transactions with its related parties. Such transactions,
which are summarised below, arose the ordinary course of business and were conclude on commercial terms and
based agreed upon by the Company and those related parties.

(Unit: Million Baht)
Transactions with related companies
Sales 0.9 7.8 At prices and on trading terms similar to those of sales to normal customers
Utilities expenses 51.5 469 Atagreed price with reference of cost and related expenses of provision

Transportation expenses ~ 14.2 6.1 Based on distance which is priced in the normal course of business

Manufacturing expenses 0.1 0.2 At prices and on trading terms similar to those of sales to normal customers
Service expenses 2.4 2.4 Contract price
Rental expenses 2.2 2.2 Contract price
Management fee 0.6 0.6 Contract price

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the balances of the accounts between the Company and those related
parties are as follows:
(Unit: Thousand Baht)

T s e
Trade receivables - related parties (Note 8)
Related companies
Pomprachul Steel Co., Ltd. - 536

Total trade receivables - related parties - 536

Trade payables - related parties (Note 13)

Related companies

Sahaviriya Steel Industries Plc. 3,722 4,978
SVL Corporation Co., Ltd. 1,571 942
Prachuap Port Co., Ltd. 1,543 849
C.AR. Service Co., Ltd. 209 142
Western Security Guard Co., Ltd. 201 235
West Coast Engineering Co., Ltd. 10 -
Total trade payables - related parties 7,256 7,146
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Directors and management’s benefits

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Company had employee benefit expenses of
its directors and management as below.

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Short-term employee benefits 10,260 10,603
Post-employment benefits 579 166
Total 10,839 10,769

7. Cash and cash equivalents

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Cash 80 80
Bank deposits 60,413 277,857
Total 60,493 277,937

As at 31 December 2019, bank deposits in saving accounts carried interest at 0.375 percent per annum (2018:
0.375 percent per annum).

8. Trade receivables

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Trade receivables - related parties (Note 6)

Aged on the basis of due dates

Past due
3-6 months - 536
Total trade receivables - related parties - 536

Trade receivables - unrelated parties

Aged on the basis of due dates

Not yet due 273,925 319,765

Past due

Up to 3 months 24,094 32,892

Total trade receivables - unrelated parties 298,019 352,657
Total trade receivables 298,019 353,193

As at 31 December 2019, the outstanding balances included in post-dated cheques and notes receivable
amounting to Bah 213 million (2018: Baht 290 million).

During the current year, the Company sales its notes receivable amounting to Baht 109 million (2018: Baht
73 million) at a discount to a financial institution without recourse.

152 Bangsaphan Barmill PLC.

ZH



S

DT

9. Inventories

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Reduce cost to .
Cost : Inventories - net
net realisable value

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Finished goods 309,305 230,876 (8,162) 309,305 222,714
Raw materials 346,065 157,868 = (463) 346,065 157,405
Supplies and spare parts 88,422 90,056 = = 88,422 90,056
Total 743,792 478,800 = (8,625) 743,792 470,175

During the current year, the Company reversed the write-down of cost of inventories by Baht 8.6 million
(2018: the Company reduced cost of inventories by Baht 8.6 million), to reflect the net realisable value. This
was included in cost of sales.
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10. Property, plant and equipment

(Unit; Thousand Baht)

Machinery :
Buti)lgiilréginagnd equ?;r(rj\ent Fg;(?:}ruerse : Equipment Motor |installation |Bearer Total
L[ et prodlbrl]ction :ggi;rT:r?t e
line
Cost:
As at 1 January 2018 96,293 360,646 1,006,156 21,940 40,299 7,987 607 7,402 1,541,330
Additions - - - 454 8 3,555 1,718 308 6,043
Disposals/ write-off - - - - - (3,037) - - (3,037)
Transfers - 2,965 3,144 208 - - (2,325) 4 3,996
As at 31 December 2018 96,293 363,611 1,009,300 22,602 40,307 8,505 - 7,714-
Additions - 25 1,219 253 - - 182 - 1,679
Transfers - 271 5,249 119 = - (182) - 55
As at 31 December 2019 96293 363907 1015768 22974 40307 8505 - 7,714 1,555,468
Accumulated depreciation:
As at 1 January 2018 - 216,252 401,542 20,375 39,474 5879 - - 683,522
Depreciation for the year - 12,035 18,215 733 301 645 - 226 32,155
Depreciation on disposals/ write-off - - - - - (3,037) - - (3,037)
As at 31 December 2018 - 228287 419757 21,108 39,775 3487 - 226 712,640
Depreciation for the year - 12,118 21,943 567 267 1217 - 386 36,498
As at 31 December 2019 - 200805 441,700 21,675 40042 4,704 - 612| 749,138
Net book value:
31 December 2018 96,293 135,324 589,543 1,494 532 5,018 - 7,488 835,692
31 December 2019 96,293 123,502 574,068 1,299 265 3,801 - 7,102 806,330
Depreciation for the year:
2018 (Baht 31 million included in manufacturing cost, and the balance in administrative expenses) 32,155
2019 (Baht 36 million included in manufacturing cost, and the balance in administrative expenses) 36,498

As at 31 December 2019, certain plant and equipment items have been fully depreciated but are still
in use. The gross carrying amount before deducting accumulated depreciation of those assets amounted to
approximately Baht 64 million (2018: Baht 62 million).

All land, buildings and machinery are mortgaged/pledged as collateral for credit facilities obtained from a
bank. The beneficiary rights under the insurance policies for these mortgaged/pledged assets have also been
transferred to the bank.
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Non-operating asset

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Non-operating asset - land 4,154 4,154

Less: Allowance for impairment (4,154) (4,154)

Non-operating asset - net - -

(a)

(b)

In January 2010, the Company received a letter dated 5 January 2010 from the Department of Lands, relating
to the revocation of the Certificate of Utilisation (Nor Sor 3 Kor), ordering that the Nor Sor 3 Kor certificate be
revoked in accordance with the order of the Director General of the Department of Lands No. 15/2553 dated 5
January 2010. For prudent reasons, the Company has set aside allowance for impairment of this non-operating
asset in full in the 2009 financial statements.

In August 2010, the Company filed a lawsuit against the officers of Prachuapkhirikhan Provincial Lands
Office, Bangsaphan Branch with the Central Administrative Court, petitioning the Central Administrative Court
to order the cancellation of the announcement of replacements for such Nor. Sor.3. Kor. In addition, the
Company also petitioned the Count to identify measures to provide temporary relief to the plaintiffs. Currently,
this case is being considered by the Court.

In September 2010, the Company petitioned the Central Administrative Court to withdraw the order of
the Director General of the Department of Lands No. 15/2553 dated 5 January 2010 and currently, this case
is being considered by the Court.

In December 2010, the Company received a letter from Bangsaphan Sheriff, as the official responsible for
protection the conserved forest area of Klong Mae Rumphueng, Prachuabkirikhan.This referred to Section 25(1)
of the Conserved Forest Act B.E. 2507 and ordered the Company to leave and discontinue any activities on

the conserved forest area.

In March 2011, the Company petitioned the Central Administrative Court to reverse the Sheriff’s order
that the Company leave and discontinue any activities on the conserved forest area.

In August 2013, the Company received a letter from Bangsaphan Sheriff notifying it that the Central
Administrative Court had issued an order granting a stay of execution of the Administrative Court’s order for
the Company to leave the conserved forest area and discontinue any activities therein.

In January 2015, the Company received a letter from Bangsaphan Sheriff notifying the Company of an order
of the Supreme Administrative Court (disposing of a petition to appeal the order for a stay of execution issued
by the Administrative Court). The decision of the Supreme Administrative Court was to reverse the Central
Administrative Court’s order, dismissing the petition for a stay of execution of the order for the Company to

leave the conserved forest area and discontinue any activities therein.

Later in February 2018, the Central Administrative Court dismissed the case. As a result, the Sheriff’s order

has continued.

In September 2011, the Company petitioned the Central Administrative Court with respect to wrongdoing
or other liability of government agencies or state officials as a result of the exercise of authority under laws,
administrative orders, or other orders, in order to claim monetary damages for loss of opportunity from land

usage. At present, this case is being considered by the Court.

However, the management of the Company believes that this order will not have any significant impact

on the Company’s operations and financial statements.
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12. Short-term credit facilities from bank

The Company has been granted credit facilities amounting to Baht 675 million from a bank, consisting
of bank overdraft facilities amounting to Baht 10 million and short-term loan facilities amounting to Baht 665
million. As at 31 December 2019, the Baht 675 million credit facilities (2018: Baht 675 million) have yet been
drawn down.

The credit facilities are secured by the mortgage/pledge of all land, buildings and machinery of the Company
as described in Note 10 to the financial statements. In addition, under the credit facilities agreement, the

Company has to comply with certain covenants regarding the operations, financial ratios and other conditions.

13. Trade and other payables

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Trade payables - related parties (Note 6) 7,256 7,146
Trade payables - unrelated parties 29,800 12,809
Accrued expenses 2,276 1,504
Total 39,332 21,459

14. Provision for long-term employee benefits

Provision for long-term employee benefits, which represents compensations payable to on employees after
they retire, was as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Provision for long-term employee benefits at beginning of year 7,521 6,979

Included in profit or loss:

Current service cost 1,060 896
Interest cost 183 157
Past service costs 2,162 -

Included in other comprehensive income:

Acturial (gain) loss arising from

Demographic assumptions changes (163) =
Financial assumptions changes 404 -
Experience adjustments (1,095) -
Benefits paid during the year (500) (511)
Provision for long-term employee benefits at end of year 9,572 7,521
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On 5 April 2019, The Labor Protection Act (No. 7) B.E. 2562 was announced in the Royal Gazette. This
stipulates additional legal severance pay rates for employees who have worked for an uninterrupted period
of twenty years or more, with such employees entitled to receive not less than 400 days’ compensation at
the latest wage rate. The law was effective from 5 May 2019. This change is considered a post-employment
benefits plan amendment and the Company has additional long-term employee benefit liabilities of Baht 2.2
million as a result. The Company reflects the effect of the change by recognising past service costs as expenses
in the income statement of the current period.

The Company expects to pay Baht 0.6 million of long-term employee benefits during the next year (2018:
Baht 0.4 million).

As at 31 December 2019, the weighted average duration of the liabilities for long-term employee benefit
is 10 years (2018: 14 years).

Significant actuarial assumptions at the valuation date are summarised belows:

(Unit: Percent per annum)

Discount rate 2.29% 2.35%
Salary increase rate 4.00% 3.26%
Turnover rate 5.00% - 17.00% 4.00% - 16.50%

The result of sensitivity analysis for significant assumptions that affect the present value of the long-term employee

benefit obligation as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 are summarised below:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

2019 2018

Discount rate 1 (630) 714 (550) 620
Salary increase rate 1 845 (758) 726 (651)
Turnover rate 10 (351) 373 (274) 289

15. Statutory reserve

Pursuant to Section 116 of the Public Limited Companies Act B.E. 2535, the Company is required to set aside
to a statutory reserve at least 5 percent of its net profit for the year after deducting accumulated deficit brought
forward (if any), until the reserve reaches 10 percent of the registered capital. The statutory reserve is not available
for dividend distribution. At present, the statutory reserve has fully been set aside.
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16. Expenses by nature

Significant expenses classified by nature are as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Salaries and wages and other employee benefits 56,009 51,665
Depreciation 36,498 32,155
Transportation expenses 26,485 24,003
Raw materials and consumables used 1,904,407 1,966,630
Changes in inventories of finished goods (78,429) 46,904

17. Income tax

Income tax expenses for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are made up as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Current income tax:

Current income tax charge 11,197 10,175
Deferred tax:

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences 1,144 (1,833)

Income tax expenses reported in profit or loss 12,341 8,342

The amounts of income tax relating to each component of other comprehensive income for the years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Deferred tax on actuarial gain 171 -
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The reconciliation between accounting profit and income tax expenses is shown below.

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Accounting profit before tax 60,890 41,454
Applicable tax rate 20% 20%
Accounting profit before tax multiplied by
income tax rate 12,178 8,291
Effects of:
Non-deductible expenses 194 80
Additional expense deductions allowed (31) (29)
Total 163 51
Income tax expenses reported in profit or loss 12,341 8,342

The components of deferred tax assets are as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Statements of financial position

2019 2018

Allowance for diminution in value of inventories - 1,725
Provision for long-term employee benefits 1,914 1,504
Total 1,914 3,229

18. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the
Company (excluding other comprehensive income) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in

issue during the year.

19. Segment information

Operating segment information is reported in a manner consistent with the internal reports that are
recularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to make decisions about the allocation of
resources to the segment and assess its performance.

The Company is principally engaged in the manufacture and distribution of deformed and round steel bars.
Its operation is carried on exclusively in Thailand. Segment performance is measured based on operating profit
or loss, on a basis consistent with that used to measure operating profit or loss in the financial statements. As
a result, all of the revenues, operating profits and assets as reflected in these financial statements pertain to
the aforementioned reportable operating segment and geographic area.

For the year 2019, the Company has three major customers with a total revenues of Baht 1,396 million
(2018: Baht 1,454 million derived from five major customers).
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20. Provident fund

The Company and its employees have jointly established a provident fund in accordance with the
Provident Fund Act B.E. 2530. Both employees and the Company contribute to the fund monthly at the rate
of 3 percent of basic salary. The fund, which is managed by Kasikorn Asset Management Company Limited,
will be paid to employees upon termination in accordance with the fund rules. The contribution for the year
2019 amounting to Baht 0.6 million (2018: Baht 0.7 million) were recognised as expenses.

21. Dividends
Total Dividend
Dividends Approved by dividends per share
(Thousand Baht) | (Baht per share)
Final dividends for 2017 The Annual General Meeting of the share-
holders on 23 April 2018 56,625 0.05
Total for 2018 56,625
Final dividends for 2018 The Annual General Meeting of the share-
holders on 22 April 2019 33,975 0.03
Interim dividends for 2019 The Board of Directors’ Meeting on
11 November 2019 45,300 0.04
Total for 2019 79,275

22. Commitments

The Company has entered into agreements in respect of the lease of office building space and services.
The terms of the agreements are generally between 1 and 4 years.

Future minimum lease payments required under these leases and service contracts were as follows:

(Unit: Million Baht)

Payable:
Inup to 1 year 4.6 4.5
In over 1 and up to 4 years 1.8 3.7

23. Financial instruments
23.1 Financial risk management

The Company’s financial instruments, as defined under Thai Accounting Standard No. 107 “Financial
Instruments: Disclosure and Presentations”, principally comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables,
and trade and other payables. The financial risks associated with these financial instruments and how they
are managed are described below.
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Crediit risk

The Company is exposed to credit risk primarily with respect to trade receivables. The Company
manages the risk by adopting appropriate credit control policies and procedures. Although the Company
are exposed to credit risk with respect to trade receivables since the majority of sales are made to a
limited number of customers. However, due to those customer’s creditworthiness, the Company do not
anticipate material losses from debt collection. The maximum exposure to credit risk is limited to the
carrying amounts of trade receivables as stated in the statements of financial position.

Interest rate risk

The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily to its cash at banks. However, since
most of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities bear floating interest rates, the interest rate risk is

expected to be minimal.
Foreign currency risk

The Company expects that there may be an effect from changes in exchange rates resulting from
unhedged assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the balances of financial assets dominated in foreign currencies are

Foreign currency 2019 2018 2019 2018

summarised bellows.

(Million) (Million) (Baht per 1 foreign currency unit)

US dollar 0.2 2.2 30.1540 32.4498

23.2 Fair values of financial instruments

Since the majority of the Company’s financial instruments are short-term in nature or carrying interest at
a rate closed to the market interest rates, their fair value is not expected to be materially different from the

amounts presented in the statement of financial position.

24. Capital management

The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to ensure that it has appropriate capital
structure in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value. As at 31 December 2019, the
Company’s debt-to-equity ratio was 0.03:1 (2018: 0.02:1).

25. Event after the reporting period

On 26 December 2019, the Board of Directors meeting of the Company passed a resolution to repurchase
the Company’s share (Treasury stock) for financial management purposes in the maximum amount of Baht
11.5 million, which is equivalent to the number of shares to be repurchased up to 11,325,000 shares, or 1% of

the paid-up share capital of the Company. The share repurchase will come into on 10 January to 9 July 2020.

26. Approval of financial statements

These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors on 24 February
2020.
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